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PLAINTIFF'S OPENING BRIEF 

This is one of nine cases that are being coordinated by the Court for the briefing of 

common legal issues.  This brief addresses the legal issues surrounding HUD's unlawful 

elimination of certain housing units from the Plaintiffs' Formula Current Assisted Stock, the 

corresponding loss of millions of dollars of stock grant funding and the recapture, or threatened 

recapture, of millions more.  Included in the legal issues are those which were: 1) not addressed 

by the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit in Fort Peck Housing Authority v. 

U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development, 367 Fed.Appx. 884 (10th Cir. 2010) ("Fort Peck 

II"); and (ii), as to at least one issue, specifically excepted from that court's consideration.  These 

include: 

 HUD's refusal to grant Plaintiffs any form of hearing as required by law;  

 the recapture of funds which have already been expended on affordable housing 

activities;  

 the effect of the Native American Housing Assistance and Self-Determination 

Reauthorization Act of 2008 ("2008 Reauthorization Act");  

 HUD's systematic exclusion of units from FCAS assistance that had not been 

conveyed due to practical considerations and which were still owned and 

operated by TDHEs; and 

 violations of the rulemaking provisions of the APA by HUD in promulgating 

mandates for the conveyance of units. 

Due to the nature of this Court's coordination, not all issues argued in this brief are 

applicable to all of the cases in which this brief has been filed.  The issues argued in this brief 

are, however, issues common to two or more of the coordinated cases.  
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Introductory Statement  

At the time of the passage of the Native American Housing Assistance and Self-

Determination Act ("NAHASDA") in 1996, Congress found that "the need for affordable homes 

in safe and healthy environments on Indian reservations [and] in Indian communities . . . is 

acute."  25 U.S.C. § 4101(6).  Congress passed NAHASDA to assist in fulfilling the federal 

government's "unique trust responsibility to protect and support Indian tribes and Indian people," 

and "to improve their housing conditions and socioeconomic status so that they are able to take 

greater responsibility for their own economic condition."  25 U.S.C. § 4101(3), (4).  

Unfortunately, however, 15 years after its passage, the important goals of NAHASDA have not 

been fully realized.   

Today, Plaintiffs, who serve the same "Indian tribes and Indian people" intended to be 

supported by NAHASDA, find themselves embroiled in longstanding disputes with the executive 

agency charged with NAHASDA's implementation, the United States Department of Housing 

and Urban Development ("HUD").  These disputes all stem from HUD's unilateral frustration of 

the will of Congress, disregard of Congressional intent and denial of a fair process to the Plaintiff 

Tribally Designated Housing Entities ("TDHEs") in the imposition of its will.  The record is 

compelling that HUD has repeatedly failed to comply with the very law that it was charged with 

implementing.  Specifically, through fiscal year 2008, HUD unlawfully eliminated certain 

housing units from the calculation of Plaintiffs' Formula Current Assisted Stock ("FCAS").  This 

has resulted in the loss of millions of dollars of block grant funding and the recapture of millions 

more, with HUD threatening the recapture of still millions more.  This widespread and unlawful 

denial of block grant funding and the seizing of millions of dollars of funds previously spent on 
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affordable housing by these Plaintiffs has come without the Plaintiffs being afforded any 

opportunity for a hearing.         

Plaintiffs have brought these cases in an effort to finally and fairly resolve these disputes.  

Plaintiffs seek to compel HUD's compliance with NAHASDA and achieve the fair and equitable 

treatment to which they are entitled under the law.  It is Plaintiffs' hope that, through this 

litigation, one significant step may finally be taken toward the full realization of Congressional 

intent in passing NAHASDA.   

Background 

Before the enactment of NAHASDA, HUD provided funding to Indian tribes through a 

variety of programs under the United States Housing Act of 1937, 42 U.S.C. § 1437, et seq. 

("1937 Housing Act").  Under a program known as "Mutual Help," an eligible Indian family 

could contribute to the construction of a home under a Mutual Help and Occupancy Agreement 

("MHOA") with an option to purchase the home at the end of the contract period.  See 24 C.F.R. 

Part 905, Subpart E (1995), attached as Non-Record Appendix "1" ("NRA '1'").1  Another 

program designed to encourage homeownership was the Turnkey III Homeownership 

Opportunities Program.  "Turnkey III" was another type of lease-to-own program.  See 24 C.F.R. 

Part 905, Subpart G (1995), attached as NRA "2".  HUD's regulations allowed conversion of 

either Mutual Help units or Turnkey III units into rental units.  See 24 C.F.R. §§ 905.458, 

905.503(a) (1995), attached as NRA "3".  HUD's assistance to tribes under the 1937 Housing Act 

was furnished pursuant to Annual Contributions Contracts.  See 24 C.F.R. § 1000.10(b).  HUD 

granted funds for each fiscal year in the amount set forth in those contracts. 

                                                 
1  In this consolidated brief, Plaintiffs have cited to material not contained in the various 
administrative records, including historic regulations.  Those materials are attached as the "Non-
Record Appendix", hereinafter referred to as "NRA '__'". 
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NAHASDA became effective on October 1, 1997.  See Pub. L. 104-330, § 107, 110 Stat. 

4016 (1996).  NAHASDA replaced the Indian housing assistance previously provided under the 

1937 Housing Act.  See 25 U.S.C. §§ 4181(1), 4182.  NAHASDA specifically provided for 

annual block grants to TDHEs in an amount to be determined by an allocation formula to be 

established by federal regulations developed by HUD.  See 25 U.S.C. §§ 4103(22), 4151, 4152, 

4116.  Necessarily, any regulatory formula developed had to comport and comply with the 

requirements mandated by NAHASDA's formula allocation provision, 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b).  As 

originally passed, and as is relevant to this matter, NAHASDA provided as follows: 

The formula shall be based on factors that reflect the need of the Indian tribes and 
the areas of the tribes for assistance for affordable housing activities, including 
the following factors: 

 
(1) The number of low-income housing dwelling units owned or operated at 

the time pursuant to a contract between an Indian housing authority for the 
tribe and the Secretary. 

 
(2) The extent of poverty and economic distress and the number of Indian 

families within Indian areas of the tribe. 
 
(3) Other objectively measurable conditions as the Secretary and the Indian 

tribes may specify. 
 
25 U.S.C. § 4152(b). 
 

After enactment of NAHASDA, a committee composed of both HUD and tribal 

representatives developed a regulatory block grant formula.  See Implementation of the Native 

American Housing Assistance and Self-Determination Act of 1996; Final Rule, 63 Fed. Reg. 

12334 (March 12, 1998), attached as NRA "4".  Those regulations are found in Part 1000, 

Subpart D, of Title 24 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  See 24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.301 to 

1000.340.2 

                                                 
2   The regulations were subsequently amended again in 2007. 
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As codified, the formula has but two components: (1) FCAS and (2) need.  See 24 C.F.R. 

§ 1000.310.  The FCAS component is based on a tribe's inventory of low-income housing units, 

including Mutual Help and Turnkey III units.  Id. at §§ 1000.310, 1000.312 and 1000.314.  The 

FCAS component is calculated by multiplying each type of unit in a tribe's housing inventory by 

a subsidy factor.  Id. at § 1000.316.  The regulations provide that the beginning point for 

calculating the FCAS is "Current Assisted Stock," which Plaintiffs contend is the number of 

housing units for which a tribe was receiving HUD assistance on NAHASDA's effective date.  

Id. at § 1000.312.  Under the formula, units that "were in the development pipeline" as of 1997 

and units for which a tribe was receiving assistance under Section 8 of the 1937 Housing Act 

when their Annual Contributions Contract expired are included in FCAS.  Id. at § 1000.314.  

Section 1000.318, the primary regulation at issue in these cases, was ostensibly 

promulgated to delineate when units under FCAS cease to be counted or expire from the 

inventory used for the formula.  That regulation provides: 

(a) Mutual Help and Turnkey III units shall no longer be considered Formula 
Current Assisted Stock when the Indian tribe, TDHE [tribally designated 
housing entity], or IHA [Indian Housing Authority] no longer has the legal 
right to own, operate, or maintain the unit, whether such right is lost by 
conveyance, demolition, or otherwise, provided that: 

 
(1) Conveyance of each Mutual Help or Turnkey III unit occurs as 

soon as practicable after a unit becomes eligible for conveyance by 
the terms of the MHOA [Mutual Help Occupancy Agreement]; and 

 
(2) The Indian tribe, TDHE, or IHA actively enforce strict compliance 

by the homebuyer with the terms and conditions of the MHOA, 
including the requirements for full and timely payment. 

 
(b) Rental units shall continue to be included for formula purposes as long as 

they continue to be operated as low income rental units by the Indian tribe, 
TDHE, or IHA. 
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(c) Expired contract Section 8 units shall continue as rental units and be 
included in the formula as long as they are operated as low income rental 
units as included in the Indian tribe's or TDHE's Formula Response Form. 

 
Id.  During the years immediately following the promulgation of § 1000.318, in accordance with 

NAHASDA's formula allocation provision, HUD calculated the FCAS to include all units 

covered by an Annual Contributions Contract as of September 30, 1997.  See, e.g., Audit Report, 

Office of Inspector General (2001), Choctaw Nation AR, Vol. I, Tab 12-1, pp. 7-11, 

CNOK000178-CNOK000182, attached as Record Appendix "1" ("RA '1'").3 

In 2001, HUD's Office of Inspector General ("OIG") conducted a wide-scale audit of 

NAHASDA program implementation.  Id. (RA "1").  As set forth in its Audit Report, OIG 

asserted that block grant funds had not been properly allocated in previous years because they 

were based on housing units that did not qualify as FCAS under § 1000.318.  Id. at pp. 7-9 

("Since Mutual Help and Turnkey III programs generally do not exceed 25-years, one can 

reasonably expect that some of these units should be paid-off, and the Housing Entities would no 

longer have the legal right to own, operate, or maintain these units.").  The OIG further 

recommended that the Office of Native American Programs ("ONAP") audit all TDHEs' FCAS, 

remove ineligible units from FCAS, recover funding from TDHEs that it had determined to have 

inflated FCAS and reallocate the recovery to recipients that were underfunded.  Id. at p. 9, 

CNOK000180.  The OIG audit announced an interpretation of §1000.318 that was different from 

both HUD's and the TDHEs'.  Indeed, it appears it was the OIG that first interpreted § 1000.318 

to impose the absolute 25 year mandatory conveyance and funding ineligibility rule. 

                                                 
3  Because this is a consolidated brief, the Plaintiffs have relied on each other's administrative 
records for illustrative purposes.  HUD has agreed to this procedure.  Portions of the various 
administrative records cited in this consolidated brief are attached as the "Record Appendix", 
hereinafter referred to as "RA '    '". 
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ONAP objected to this finding, pointing out that the mere fact that a unit has been in the 

program for more than 25 years is not proof that the unit is ineligible to be included in the FCAS.  

ONAP explained:   

There are several situations where the tribe would continue to own, operate and 
maintain the units after 25 years.  Examples include, conveyance being delayed 
because of lease or title issues, modernization which increased the term or 
purchase price of the unit, and a subsequent homebuyer. 
 

Id. at p. 58, CNOK000229.  Nevertheless, and in spite of this disagreement with the OIG audit 

findings, HUD proceeded to notify TDHEs of: (a) purported overfunding in years past due to the 

inclusion (in FCAS) of units that HUD had determined to have been no longer qualified under § 

1000.318; and (b) HUD's plan to force tribes to repay the allegedly overfunded amounts.  See, 

e.g., Choctaw Nation AR, Vol. II, Tab 31, attached as RA "2".   

When HUD made its determination that unqualified units had been included in the 

calculation of a tribe's FCAS, HUD did not provide an opportunity for a hearing to the affected 

TDHE.  HUD instead informed the TDHEs that "the procedural requirements prescribe[d] in § 

1000.532 do not apply to errors in calculating IHBG [Indian Housing Block Grant] allocations." 

See, e.g., Choctaw Nation AR, Vol. II, Tab 36, p. CNOK000721, attached as RA "3".  Rather 

than providing the hearing provided for in 24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.532 and 1000.540, HUD has used a 

procedure described in NAHASDA Guidance No. 98-19 in dealing with some of the TDHEs.4  

This Guidance, created out of whole cloth by HUD, provides that when HUD discovers that a 

tribe/TDHE's grant was based on FCAS units that had been conveyed or were in HUD's view 

eligible for conveyance, HUD will: (1) inform the tribe/TDHE of that; (2) recoup funds by 

adjusting upcoming grants; (3) provide the tribe/TDHE an opportunity to present additional 

                                                 
4   Guidance No. 98-19 is part of the Tlingit-Haida Regional Housing Authority AR ("THRHA 
RA"), Tab 5.1, attached as RA "4". 
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information; and (4) proceed to redistribute any recouped funds.  Id.  In dealing with other 

TDHEs, HUD allowed absolutely no opportunity for review.  

Many TDHEs, including the Fort Peck Housing Authority, challenged HUD's actions, 

arguing that HUD was: (1) violating NAHASDA's formula allocation provision; and (2) denying 

them the procedural protections guaranteed by federal law.  This Court initially resolved the first 

issue in favor of the plaintiffs in Fort Peck Housing Authority v. HUD, 435 F. Supp.2d 1125 (D. 

Colo. 2006) ("Fort Peck I").  On May 25, 2006, this Court held that HUD illegally reduced Fort 

Peck's FCAS for the years 1999-2002 on the basis of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a).  See Fort Peck I, 

435 F. Supp.2d at 1132.  The Court reasoned that the regulation impermissibly conflicts with the 

plain language of NAHASDA's formula allocation provision which mandates "the inclusion of 

'[t]he number of low-income housing dwelling units owned or operated at the time [September 

30, 1997] pursuant to a contract between an Indian housing authority for the tribe and the 

Secretary.'"  Fort Peck I, 435 F. Supp.2d at 1132 (quoting § 4152(b)(1)).  As this Court reasoned 

in Fort Peck I, with the formula allocation provision, "Congress expressly directed that the first 

factor in determining a tribe's need for housing assistance is the number of dwelling units for 

which a tribe was receiving federal assistance when NAHASDA went into effect."  Id. (emphasis 

added).   

After the Fort Peck I decision, the United States appealed.  During the pendency of this 

appeal, HUD developed a number of statutory amendments to NAHASDA to be proposed to 

Congress during the NAHASDA reauthorization process.  Part of HUD's effort was directed at 

changing NAHASDA so as to change the way that units were counted for purposes of the FCAS.  

See Statement of Orlando Cabrera, Asst. Sec'y for Pub. & Indian Housing HUD, Hearing before 

the House Committee on Financial Services Subcommittee on Housing & Community Opp., 
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June 6, 2007 ("O. Cabrera Statement"), at 2, 3, attached as NRA "5";5 Statement of Rodger J. 

Boyd, Dep. Asst. Sec'y for Native American Programs HUD, Hearing before Sen. Committee on 

Indian Affairs, July 19, 2007 ("R. Boyd Statement"), at 3, attached as NRA "6".6   

On October 14, 2008, the 2008 Reauthorization Act was signed into law.  PL 110-411, 

122 Stat. 4319 (2008).  As ultimately enacted, the 2008 Reauthorization Act includes the 

amendment of the formula allocation provision urged by HUD.  Id. at § 301.  Under the 

amendment, NAHASDA's formula allocation provision was changed to incorporate some of the 

language from 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a), the very regulation found to be invalid by this Court in 

Fort Peck I.  In addition, Congress explicitly rendered the amendment inapplicable to these 

Plaintiffs through fiscal year 2008.  Specifically, the 2008 Reauthorization Act provides that the 

statutory changes to the formula would "not apply to any claim arising from a formula current 

assisted stock calculation or count involving an Indian housing block grant allocation for any 

fiscal year through fiscal year 2008, if a civil action relating to the claim is filed by not later than 

45 days after October 14, 2008."  Id. at § 301(E).  Thus, Congress allowed this litigation to 

proceed under the pre-amendment formula allocation provision.     

 Sixteen months after the amendment of NAHASDA, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals 

reversed the district court's decision in Fort Peck I.  See Fort Peck II.  Importantly, while 

recognizing the passage of the 2008 Reauthorization Act in Fort Peck II, the Circuit explicitly 

did not address or consider the effect that the amendments contained in that Act had upon the 

appropriate interpretation of NAHASDA.  See 376 Fed.Appx. at 885, n. 1.  Further, Fort Peck II 

did not address: (1) whether HUD could disallow units that were still owned and operated by a 

                                                 
5  Publicly available at http://financialservices.house.gov/hearing110/htcabrera060607.pdf. 
 
6  Publicly available at http://www.indian.senate.gov/public/_files/Boyd071907.pdf. 
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TDHE after 25 years because conveyance was not practicable; or (2) whether HUD denied the 

TDHEs procedural protections guaranteed by federal law.   

Summary of Argument 

Specifically, and as set forth by Plaintiffs more fully below, HUD's actions, including its 

adoption and implementation of regulations, are unlawful in the following respects: 

First:  HUD Violated Sections 401 and 405 of NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532 and 

the APA by recapturing funds without providing any plaintiff with the opportunity for a 

hearing, and without finding that any plaintiff was in "Substantial Noncompliance."  Title 

IV of NAHASDA provides both a comprehensive array of sanctions and procedural safeguards, 

including, inter alia: (a) administratively recapturing misspent revenues under Section 401(a), if 

the recipient is guilty of "substantial noncompliance," and the recipient is given the opportunity 

for a formal hearing; and (b) after an audit or review, adjusting a recipient's grant amount under 

Section 405(d), provided that, according to a 2000 amendment to Section 405, HUD's authority 

to adjust the recipient's grant amount is "subject to" the substantial noncompliance and hearing 

prerequisites of Section 401(a).   

HUD's planned or already executed recaptures directed at these Plaintiffs are substantial.  

For example, they range from $143,324 for the Pueblo of Acoma Housing Authority to 

$6,165,842 for the Navajo Housing Authority.  See, e.g., Navajo AR, Vol. 3, Tab 80, pp. 

AR001331-1333, attached as RA "5"; Pueblo of Acoma Housing Authority AR, Vol. 5, Tab 54, 

p. 1295, attached as RA "6".  Despite the amounts involved (both in absolute terms and in 

relation to the recipients' total grants) HUD has neither offered any Plaintiff an opportunity for a 

hearing nor found that any Plaintiff's alleged noncompliance was "substantial."  Nothing within 
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the comprehensive panoply of remedies set out in Title IV authorized HUD to so summarily 

deprive recipients of the procedural safeguards guaranteed by NAHASDA. 

Second:  HUD violated section 405 of NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532 and the 

APA by recapturing FCAS funds already spent on affordable housing activities.  In 

providing remedies for non-compliance with NAHASDA, Congress, in Section 405 of the Act, 

expressly prohibited HUD from recapturing funds as the result of an audit or review where the 

grant funds had already been expended on affordable housing services.  The regulations under 

which this program functions reflect this same limitation.  See 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532.  In these 

cases, however, HUD has made no determination and in fact has made no investigation as to 

whether the funds which it has either recaptured or threatens to recapture have already been 

spent on affordable housing services. 

Third:  The 2008 Reauthorization Act, which the Tenth Circuit expressly declined 

to consider in Fort Peck II, requires this Court to find 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) invalid 

under the law as it existed through fiscal year 2008.  In deciding Fort Peck II, the Tenth 

Circuit explicitly excluded from its consideration the effect of the 2008  Reauthorization Act 

upon the issues before it.  376 Fed.Appx. at 885, n. 1.  Thus, with respect to the 2008 

Reauthorization Act, the Tenth Circuit's unpublished decision does not address: (a) the fact that 

Congress made substantive changes to NAHASDA's formula allocation provision which 

incorporate § 1000.318(a), the regulation found to be invalid by this Court in Fort Peck I; (b) 

HUD's testimony before Congress prior to enactment of the 2008 Reauthorization Act urging 

that the then-proposed amendment "would change the way that housing units in management are 

counted for formula purposes" by not "counting units for [Formula Current Assisted Stock] 

purposes in the year after they are conveyed, demolished or disposed of"; and (c) the fact that 

Case 1:05-cv-00018-RPM   Document 75   Filed 07/26/11   USDC Colorado   Page 24 of 80



QB\14053308. 1 - 12 - 
 
 

Congress expressly declined to apply the amendment retroactively to TDHEs that filed a civil 

action within forty-five (45) days of the 2008 Reauthorization Act's effective date, allowing this 

federal litigation to proceed under the pre-amendment version of the formula allocation 

provision.  Applying pertinent rules of statutory construction, these aspects of the 2008 

Reauthorization Act, which remain unaddressed, confirm that 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) is invalid 

because it violates the pre-amendment version of NAHASDA's formula allocation provision, 25 

U.S.C. § 4152(b). 

Fourth:  Even to the extent that Fort Peck II can be read as reflecting a persuasive 

interpretation of the law, its holding concerning 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) did not address 

HUD's treatment of units that continue to be owned by a TDHE and under 25 U.S.C. 

§ 4152 (b) these units should be included in the calculation of FCAS.  Fort Peck II dealt only 

with the exclusion of units which are no longer owned or operated by a TDHE.  The Tenth 

Circuit's decision dealt broadly with § 1000.318 and did not address the distinction between units 

that had been conveyed and units still owned and operated by a TDHE in the pertinent grant 

year.  As recognized in ONAP's response to the OIG audit, there are many reasons why a TDHE 

may continue to own a unit past the original 15 or 25 year contract term.  Units that are owned 

by a TDHE must be included in the calculation of FCAS.  Further, under the principles set out in 

United Keetoowah Band of Cherokee Indians v. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development, 567 F.3d 1235 (10th Cir. 2009) ("Keetoowah"), units may not be excluded from 

the FCAS calculation unless the reason is related to need as defined by Keetoowah.  

Nevertheless, HUD has excluded units from FCAS which Plaintiffs still own or operate, in direct 

violation of § 4152(b).  Indeed, HUD's systematic exclusion of such units, even when it was 

impracticable for Plaintiffs to convey those units, violates 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 itself.   

Case 1:05-cv-00018-RPM   Document 75   Filed 07/26/11   USDC Colorado   Page 25 of 80



QB\14053308. 1 - 13 - 
 
 

Fifth:  NAHASDA Guidance 98-19 is an invalid substantive rule that was not 

promulgated pursuant to informal and negotiated rulemaking procedures.  NAHASDA 

Guidance 98-19 sets out both procedural and substantive rules which are either absent from or 

directly contrary to the laws and regulations which govern the operations of this program.  For 

example, it provides:  "Because promissory notes can be issued, Tenant account receivables 

alone are not adequate for not-conveyance."  Id.  Similarly, contrary to NAHASDA, it also 

purports to set out a procedure in which there is no right to a hearing for the recapture of funds if 

HUD decides that units were not conveyed in a timely manner.  Such substantive changes in this 

program, if they are allowed at all, must be the result of formal rule making, something that did 

not occur here. 

Sixth:  HUD must administer NAHASDA in a way that comports with the federal 

government's trust responsibility to the Plaintiff Tribes.  In enacting NAHASDA, Congress 

recognized "the need for affordable homes in safe and healthy environments on Indian 

reservations [and] in Indian communities . . . [was] acute."  25 U.S.C. § 4101(6).  According to 

its terms, NAHASDA was passed to assist in fulfilling the federal government's "unique trust 

responsibility to protect and support Indian tribes and Indian people," and "to improve their 

housing conditions and socioeconomic status so that they are able to take greater responsibility 

for their own economic condition."  25 U.S.C. § 4101(3), (4).  In analyzing the issues presented 

in these actions, it is incumbent on this Court to interpret NAHASDA consistent with that 

important purpose of fulfilling the federal government's trust responsibilities to these tribes.   
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Argument 

I. HUD Violated Sections 401 and 405 of NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532 and the 
APA by Recapturing FCAS Funds Without Providing Any Plaintiff With the Opportunity 
for a Hearing, and Without Finding that Any Plaintiff was in "Substantial 
Noncompliance".  
 

A. Summary. 

Title IV of NAHASDA provides a comprehensive array of both sanctions and procedural 

safeguards, including, inter alia: 

 administratively recapturing misspent revenues under Section 401(a), if the 

recipient is guilty of "substantial noncompliance,"7 and the recipient is given the 

opportunity for a formal hearing;8 

 after audit or review, "adjusting" the recipient's grant amount under Section 

404(d). 

Following a 2000 amendment to Section 405,9 HUD's authority under Section 405(d) is 

"subject to" the substantial noncompliance and hearing prerequisites of Section 401(a).10   In 

violation of those provisions, and despite the amount of the recaptures involved here (both in 

                                                 
7  "Substantial noncompliance" means, inter alia, noncompliance that involves a "material 
amount" of the recipient's grant funding, or the imposition of sanctions that have a "material 
effect on the recipient meeting" the goals of its Indian Housing Plan.  24 C.F.R. § 1000.534. 
   
8  The form of hearing required by Section 401(a) is structured to provide meaningful due 
process protections.  Pursuant to 24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.532(b) and 1000.540, hearings are governed 
by the formal hearing procedures of 24 C.F.R. Part 26, which include, inter alia, de novo review 
by an Administrative Law Judge or Board of Contracts Appeals Judge; broad discovery rights 
and the right to secure subpoenas; the right to cross-examination; and the right to a decision 
based only on the record. 
 
9  P.L. 106-586, § 1003. 
 
10  There is a broad range of other remedies made available to HUD under Title IV, including 
replacing the recipient (Section 402), remedial technical training (Section 401(b)) and referral to 
the U.S. Attorney for a civil action.  See Section 401(c).   
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absolute terms and in relation to the recipients' total grants), in no case did HUD offer any 

Plaintiff the opportunity for a hearing, nor find that any Plaintiff's alleged noncompliance was 

"substantial."   Nothing within the comprehensive panoply of remedies set out in Title IV 

authorized HUD to so summarily deprive recipients of the procedural safeguards guaranteed by 

that Title. 

B.  HUD violated the plain language of § 401(a) of NAHASDA. 

Section 401(a) provides, inter alia, that: 

(1)…[If] the Secretary finds after notice and opportunity for 
hearing that a recipient of assistance under this Act has failed to 
comply substantially with any provision of this Act, the Secretary 
shall— 

* * * 
(B) reduce payments under this Act to the recipient by an 
amount of such payments  that were not expended in 
accordance with this Act; … 
 

Id. (emphasis added).  Thus, under Section 401(a), HUD may recapture funds from future grants 

only "if" the Secretary: (i) provides an "opportunity for hearing"; and (ii) "finds…[that] the 

recipient has failed to comply substantially" with NAHASDA.11  Congress could not have 

spoken more unambiguously in establishing these two pre-conditions to recapturing funds.  "If 

the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter."  Chevron U.S.A. Inc v. Natural 

Resources Defense Council, 467 U.S. 837, 842 (1984).   

                                                 
11  Section 401(a)(1)(B) also indicates that HUD's authority to recapture is limited to 
circumstances where NAHASDA funds were misspent by a Tribe, or "not expended in 
accordance with the Act."  Section 401 does not provide authority to recapture NAHASDA funds 
that are improvidently allocated by HUD, but spent by a TDHE in accordance with the Act.  One 
important purpose of the notice and hearing requirements is to give a Tribe the opportunity to 
demonstrate that it has spent its NAHASDA funds in accordance with the Act, which would 
serve as a bar to recapture.  In circumventing the notice and hearing requirement, HUD has also 
improperly endeavored to recapture funds without any inquiry into whether they were 
appropriately spent.  
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Such was the holding in City of Kansas City v. U.S.H.U.D., 861 F.2d 739 (D.C. Cir. 

1988).   Kansas City involved an interpretation of Section 111 of the Housing and Community 

Development Act (42 U.S.C. § 5311 [1982]) ("CDBG Act").  According to HUD, NAHASDA's 

enforcement provisions "like many others in NAHASDA, [are] patterned after" their CDBG 

counterparts,12 and the language of Section 111 of the CDBG Act is essentially identical to 

Section 401(a) of NAHASDA. 

In Kansas City, the court held it was "absolutely clear" that Section 111 mandated a 

hearing before HUD could withhold funding from a recipient based on noncompliance.  

Because of the clarity of the language, HUD was not entitled to any Chevron deference in 

offering a contrary interpretation.  861 F.2d at 742.   

The court cited a HUD admission that it had avoided granting hearings under Section 

111 for some 14 years because it found hearings to be time consuming.13  In rejecting 

administrative burden as a rational for avoiding the plain language of the statute, the court held 

"[W]hen a statute dictates that parties receive notice and a hearing…the provision of those basic 

procedural rights is not left to be decided by administrative 'flexibility' or 'discretion'."  Id. at 

744 (quoting RKO General, Inc. v. FCC, 670 F.2d 215, 233 (D.C. Cir. 1981)). 

The Court of Appeals for the First Circuit reached the same conclusion in City of Boston 

v. HUD, 898 F.2d 828 (1st Cir. 1990).  There, HUD claimed it had not "terminated" a grant 

under the CDBG Act because it had not yet made any payment under the grant.  In dismissing 

that argument, the court held: 

                                                 
12  62 Fed. Reg. 35726 (July 2, 1997), attached as NRA "7", p. 9. 
 
13  Kansas City, 861 F.2d at 744. 
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That HUD's…reading is hypertechnical in this context is further shown by the 
obvious purpose of the notice and hearing provision.  It was plainly intended to 
give a recipient a fair chance to respond to the serious charge of noncompliance, 
and so to have the grant maintained if the Secretary's action was ill-conceived. 

 
Id. at 832-33.  By failing to provide any Plaintiff with notice and an opportunity for a hearing, 

HUD violated the plain language of Section 401(a). 

C.  HUD Also Violated Section 405(d) of NAHASDA. 

Section 405 of NAHASDA (25 U.S.C. § 4165) authorizes HUD to audit NAHASDA 

recipients.  Section 405(d) sets out the remedies HUD may pursue if it finds recipient 

noncompliance as a result of an audit: 

Subject to Section 401(a), after reviewing the reports and audits relating to a 
recipient…, the Secretary may adjust the amount of a grant made to a recipient 
under this act in accordance with the findings of the Secretary with respect to 
those audits and reports. 

 
Id. (emphasis added).  Absent the qualifier "subject to Section 401(a)," this subsection could 

have created a conflict between Sections 401(a) and 405(d), as Section 405 itself does not 

reference either a hearing or "substantial noncompliance".  Indeed, in Kansas City, the court 

was faced with a counterpart to Section 405(d)—to wit, Section 104(d) of the CDBG Act—

that contained  no "subject to" qualifier.   

 As the court in Kansas City noted, construing Section 104(d) of the CDBG Act (the 

counterpart to Section 405 of NAHASDA) as an overlapping enforcement mechanism without 

the procedural protections found in NAHASDA's Section 401(a) would render a "nullity" the 

more demanding hearing-based remedy of  Section 111 of the CDBG.  See Kansas City, 861 

F.2d at 744.  Kansas City avoided that conflict in other ways.  See discussion at p. 20, post.   

In our case, Congress did so by expressly providing that any action taken under Section 

405(d) was "subject to" the safeguards of Section 401(a).  Therefore, even if HUD invoked 
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Section 405(d) as the basis of its recapture here, the agency violated that subsection for the 

same reasons that it violated Section 401(a). 

D. 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532 Broadly Requires a Hearing Whenever HUD "Adjusts" 
a Grant Amount After an Audit Under Section 405 of NAHASDA. 
 

While both enforcement statutes require substantial noncompliance as a predicate to 

recapturing grant funds, HUD's implementing regulation requires a hearing in all cases involving 

recapture.  See 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532 (1998), attached as NRA "8".  The reason for HUD's 

expansion of the statute in its implementing regulations is clear from the history of NAHASDA's 

first Negotiated Rulemaking in 1997.  62 Fed. Reg. 10247 (March 6, 1997), attached as NRA 

"9".  At the proposed rule stage of that process, HUD took the position that Section 405 

empowered HUD to recapture funds without a hearing under Section 401.14  See 62 Fed. Reg. 

35726 (July 2, 1997) ("Section 405(c) of NAHASDA expressly permits HUD to…reduce…grant 

amounts…in addition to the authority in section 401…") (NRA "7", p. 9); see also Proposed 24 

Fed. Reg. §528; 62 Fed. Reg. 35746 (July 2, 1997) (no hearing, and no substantiality 

requirement, for recaptures under Section 405) (NRA "7", p. 28). 

Tribal reaction to HUD's proposal was unanimously hostile.  See 63 Fed. Reg. 12347 

(March 12, 1998) (NRA "4", p. 14).15  As a result, the final rule required an opportunity for a 

formal hearing in all cases of recoupment, whether initiated under Section 401 or Section 405.  

Id. ("[As a result,] the final rule states HUD will [in cases brought under Section 

                                                 
14  HUD's position was taken three years before Congress amended Section 405(d) to make it 
subject to the limitations of Section 401(a).  See Subsection (C), ante. 
 
15  Extensive comments were received which unanimously supported the tribal position that the 
Department provide notice and opportunity for hearing prior to the Department taking the section 
405(c) remedies.  See 63 Fed. Reg. 12347 (March 12, 1998) (NRA "4", p. 14). 
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405]…provide the recipient with a hearing identical to that afforded recipients under section 

401(a) of NAHASDA.");  24 C.F.R. § 1000.532(b).   

HUD violated 24 CFR § 1000.532(b) when it recaptured, or ordered the recapture, of 

past NAHASDA funds from future grants without notifying plaintiffs of their right to a hearing 

and without according the hearing rights set out in 24 C.F.R. § 1000.540. 

E. HUD Cannot Rely on 24 C.F.R. § 1000.336 to Excuse Its Failure to Comply 
with Title IV in These Cases, and HUD Has No Inherent or Implied Power to 
Recapture FCAS Funds Without Following the Procedural Safeguards of 
Title IV of NAHASDA.  
 

HUD has never articulated a statutory basis for its denial of a hearing or for the 

procedures it has used to effect the recaptures here.16  Rather, HUD has generally referred only 

to its own Guidance Document 98-19, which itself was woven from whole cloth.   See Section 

V, p. 51, post.   

Ignoring the statutes, HUD has maintained that it is entitled to ignore NAHASDA itself 

because "a totally separate process" for FCAS recaptures can be found in regulation form—in 

the informal reconsideration process found at 24 C.F.R. 1000.336.17  At the time of the 

recaptures, that process, which has no statutory basis whatsoever, contained no procedural 

safeguards at all, save the ability to submit a letter appeal to the Assistant Secretary of Public 

and Indian Housing.  24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.336 and 1000.118 (1998), attached as NRA "11" and 

                                                 
16  See, e.g., THRHA AR, Tab 31, p. 000672, 673; THRHA AR, Tab 35, p. 000699 et seq.; 
THRHA AR, Tab 37, p. 000723 et seq.; THRHA AR, Tab 40, p. 000735, 736; THRHA AR, Tab 
43, p. 0000746, 747, collectively attached as RA"7". 
 
17  Minutes, Negotiated Rulemaking Session, July 22, 2010 at 347 (Statement of HUD Attorney 
Jad Atallah), attached as NRA "10".  See also Fort Peck AR, p. 381 (HUD's assertion that sec. 
336 governs FCAS recaptures) and Blackfeet Housing, Tab 56, p. 485 (same), both attached as 
RA "8".  
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"12", respectively).18  Moreover, in many cases, HUD, failed to advise tribes and TDHE's of 

even this rather futile internal remedy.19  In a nutshell, using the informal regulatory process 

relied upon by HUD would "nullify" Title IV's requirement of a formal hearing in precisely the 

same way that HUD sought in Kansas City, 861 F.2d at 744. 20  Here, moreover, a mere rule 

(without statutory basis) would nullify an entire statutory title.    

HUD's argument fails, among other reasons, for the same reason it failed in Kansas 

City.  In Kansas City, the court found that that the summary process invoked by HUD in that 

case was aimed at assuring correct current funding, and not imposing sanctions for past events.  

861 F.2nd at 743, n. 6.  There was obviously less need for extensive safeguards where the 

calculation of the initial grant was at issue, and there was, therefore, no overlap. 

The same is true here.  At all pertinent times, 24 C.F.R. § 1000.336 was aimed at data 

disputes for the "upcoming" or "subsequent" fiscal years.21 That is equally clear from the 

context of § 1000.336 during the pertinent years.  That regulation was part of a narrative that 

described the manner in which HUD would assemble and use data for the upcoming fiscal 

                                                 
18  The current version of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.336 (2007) provides even less procedural protection, 
offering tribes the opportunity only to have the HUD official who originally made the decision to 
"reconsider" his or her views.  Id. at § 1000.336(e)(3). 
 
19  See fn. 16, ante. 
 
20  Compare 24 C.F.R. § 1000.336 (1998) with the statutory hearing process set out at fn. 8, ante. 
 
21  This discussion pertains to § 1000.336 as it existed during the recapture period.  63 Fed. Reg. 
12367 (March 12, 1998)(NRA "4", p. 33). The only later amendment to § 1000.336 occurred in 
2007—years after HUD's determination of the recapture amounts at issue here were completed.  
72 Fed. Reg. 20025 (April 20, 2007), attached as NRA "13".  The prospective nature of the 
regulation is underscored by a lone retroactivity clause within the regulation that expressly 
applied only to data challenges brought and won by the tribe (and not ones in which HUD 
prevailed), and even then only applied retroactively when the dispute had been "carried forward" 
to a subsequent fiscal year because of the time taken to resolve it, necessitating the need for 
retroactive relief to the originally-challenged year(s).  Id. at §§ 1000.536(b)(1) and (b)(2)(i). 
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year's grants.  See 24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.330-336 (63 Fed. Reg. 12366, 67 (March 12, 1998) 

(NRA "4", pp. 32, 33)).  Title IV of NAHASDA, and 24 C.F.R. § 1000.336 (1998), therefore, 

do not overlap, and hence no "nullity" occurs.   

This is true for a second reason unique to this case.  Section 1000.336 was not made 

applicable to FCAS disputes until 2007, several years after the recapture amounts were 

determined.  See 72 Fed. Reg. 20025 (April 20, 2007)(NRA "13").22  As originally enacted, it 

applied only to challenges to "data"--a term then used by the regulations to refer to either 

census or suitable substitute data used by HUD to calculate the "need" component of the 

NAHASDA formula.  See 24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.330-336 (1998); 63 Fed. Reg. 12366-67 (NRA 

"4", pp. 32, 33).  HUD conceded at the time that the 2007 amendment was a major change in 

the scope of § 1000.336, including in its ambit, for this first time, FCAS challenges of any 

type.23 

History strongly suggests that the reason for amending § 1000.336 in 2007 was the 

pendency of the tribes' hearing claim in the Fort Peck I complaint.  Fort Peck claimed that 

HUD owed the tribes a hearing under §§ 401 and 405 of NAHASDA before recapture could 

occur in October, 2002, in a letter to HUD.24  That was shortly before commencement of the 

2003-2007 negotiated rulemaking process between HUD and the tribes pursuant to § 106(b) of 

                                                 
22  A 2008 amendment to NAHASDA purported to change the handling of FCAS disputes under 
Title IV.  See § 401(a)(2), P.L. 110-411.  Whatever the intended meaning of that 2008 
amendment, it does not purport to be retroactive to the recapture period of 2001-2003, and is 
therefore of no relevance to these cases.  See Section III, post. 
 
23  According to HUD's preamble to the proposed amendment to § 1000.336, "As revised by this 
proposed rule, § 1000.336 would continue to authorize data challenges, but also provide for 
appeal of certain HUD formula determinations.  Specifically, Indian tribes and TDHEs would be 
authorized to appeal formula determinations regarding, among others...(4) FCAS…".  70 Fed. 
Reg. 9494 (Feb. 25, 2005), attached as NRA "14", p. 6. 
 
24  Fort Peck AR, pp. 370 et seq., attached as RA "9". 
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NAHASDA, where the amendment to § 1000.336 was made.  See 68 Fed. Reg. 3112 (Jan. 22, 

2003), attached as NRA "15".  That amendment was ultimately adopted when the Negotiated 

Rulemaking Committee's final rules were published on April 20, 2007.  See 72 Fed. Reg. 

20018 (April 20, 2007), attached as NRA "16". 

Against that backdrop, it is reasonable to conclude that the 2007 amendment 

represented an attempt, by HUD, to forestall any future claims to a hearing similar to those 

raised in Fort Peck I, by sweeping FCAS controversies under the rug provided by § 

1000.336—even if the agency lacked a statutory basis for doing so.  In sum, § 1000.336 did not 

even arguably apply to FCAS recaptures until 2007—years after HUD determined the 

recapture amounts. Even today, there is no statutory basis for undermining the procedural 

protections of Title IV, by regulation or otherwise.   

As discussed above, Title IV of NAHASDA lays out a detailed and complete scheme of 

statutory remedies, "reveal[]ing the legislature's intent that the statute's enumerated remedies 

were to be exclusive…".  American Bus Association v. Slater, 231 F.3d 1, 4 (D.C. Cir. 2000).  

With so many specific remedies laid out, the statute's silence on the existence of a remedy 

beyond Title IV's procedural protections speaks louder than words.  Hence, there is no 

ambiguity, and thus no deference accorded HUD under Chevron, 467 U.S. 837 (1984).  Indeed, 

in addressing the Chevron analysis in response to a claim of implied authority, the concurring 

opinion in American Bus noted as follows: 

I would conclude that the second step in Chevron is not even implicated in this 
case.  Chevron step two applies only when a statute contains an ambiguity.  But 
Congress's [sic] failure to grant an agency a given power is not an ambiguity as to 
whether that power has, in fact, been granted.  On the contrary, and as this Court 
persistently has recognized, a statutory silence on the granting of a power is a 
denial of that power to the agency. 
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231 F.2d at 8 (emphasis in original) (Sentelle, J., concurring).  See also Backcountry Against 

Dumping v. EPA, 100 F.3d 147, 150 (D.C. Cir. 1996); Wheeling-Pittsburgh Steel Corporation v. 

Mitsui & Co., 221 F.3d 924, 926 (6th Cir. 2000) ("Generally, when Congress sets forth remedies 

in a statute, those remedies are exclusive.") 

 Even as a general proposition, "where a statute expressly provides a particular remedy or 

remedies, a court must be chary of reading others into it."  American Bus, 231 F.3d at 5.  That is 

especially true in cases of grant termination.  HUD's actions here sought to recapture funds spent 

often years earlier, in a largely successful effort to force recipients to cover the recapture by 

diverting money needed for current housing needs.  The court in City of Boston put it this way: 

The cutting off of a contractually promised grant has serious impact.  A grantee in 
this type of situation may already have made a heavy investment in reliance on 
HUD's promise.  By providing that HUD must give notice and an opportunity for 
a hearing before sanctioning development grant recipients for noncompliance 
with statutory provisions, and by providing for judicial review, Congress gave to 
recipients the opportunity to try to convince the agency, and later a court, that 
they had complied. 
 

898 F.2d at 833. 

 Finally, NAHASDA is legislation enacted for the aid and protection of Indians.25  It is 

thus subject to the "canon of construction requiring that an act be construed in favor of a 

reasonable interpretation advanced by a tribe."  Ramah Navajo Chapter, et al. v. Salazar, et al., 

2011 U.S. App. LEXIS 9489 (10th Cir., May 9, 2011).  In Fort Peck II, the Tenth Circuit 

declined to apply the canon in part because of its perception that the outcome in Fort Peck I 

would benefit some tribes while disadvantaging others.26 Here, by contrast, a  favorable ruling 

                                                 
25  NAHASDA, § 2; 25 U.S.C. §1401. 

26  In fact, according to HUD's own estimate, while the consequences of reversing this court's 
decision in Fort Peck I fell relatively hard on the benefitting tribes, the consequences of its 
affirmance would have fallen more gently on those tribes without substantial FCAS in their 
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with respect to the tribes and TDHEs' right to a hearing would benefit all Indian tribes, because 

otherwise every tribe faces the prospect of significant grant sanctions without a hearing, 

whether on FCAS or other issues. Therefore, to the extent the court finds any ambiguity in the 

language of Sections 401 and 405(d) of NAHASDA, Ramah compels the court to accept the 

reasonable interpretation of those sections offered by the tribes herein. 

F. HUD's Violations of NAHASDA and 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532(b) were also 
Violations of Section 706 of the APA. 
 

 HUD's actions outlined in this section also violate Section 706 of the Administrative 

Procedures Act ("APA") in at least three respects: 

 Section 706(2)(A).  HUD's actions were "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 

discretion [and]…not in accordance with law."  Olenhouse v. Commodity Credit 

Corp., 42 F.3d 1560, 1573-4 (10th Cir. 1994); 

 Section 706(2)(C).  HUD acted "in excess of statutory…authority, or 

limitations, [and]…short of statutory right."  Id.; and 

 Section 706(2)(D).  HUD acted "without observance of procedure required by 

law".  Id. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                             
inventories.   For example, HUD estimated that, for FY 2006, had this court's ruling in Fort Peck 
I been applied nationally: (i) 60% of the benefitting tribes would have realized grant increases of 
over $100,000 in that year alone; while (ii) over two-thirds of the remaining tribes would have 
realized an annual loss of less than $50,000.  See NRA "17". 
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II. HUD Violated Section 405 of NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532 and the APA by 
Recapturing FCAS Funds Already Spent On Affordable Housing Activities.   
 

A. Summary. 

The recaptures are also unlawful to the extent that some or all of the recaptured funds 

have already been expended on affordable housing activities.27  Section 405 of NAHASDA, as 

enacted in 1996 and amended in 2000, prohibits HUD from recapturing grant funds that have 

been expended on affordable housing activities.  This prohibition is also contained in the 

implementing regulation, 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532.  All recaptures of grant funds that had already 

been spent on affordable housing activities were therefore unlawful.  

HUD never determined whether or not the grant funds at issue were spent on affordable 

housing activities and did not give Plaintiffs a fair opportunity to make that showing in a proper 

administrative hearing.  HUD was required to make a determination that the funds had not been 

spent on affordable housing activities prior to the recapture of any funds and failed to make this 

determination in each and every instance of recapture.  Additionally, HUD was required to give 

notice and opportunity to allow Plaintiffs to make this showing in a hearing that met the 

requirements of Sections 401 and 405 of NAHASDA.  Had Plaintiffs been afforded hearings, 

they would have presented evidence that the funds had been spent on affordable housing 

activities and were therefore exempt from recapture.  HUD's actions were in violation of Section 

405 of NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532 and Section 706 of the APA.   

 B. HUD Violated the Plain Meaning of Section 405. 

Section 405 of NAHASDA (25 U.S.C. § 4165) governs HUD's ability to review and audit 

a recipient and the actions HUD is authorized to take after conducting such a review.   As 

                                                 
27  The exact amount of recaptured funds that had been expended on affordable housing activities 
prior to recapture is an issue for the counting phase and therefore not addressed in this brief. 

Case 1:05-cv-00018-RPM   Document 75   Filed 07/26/11   USDC Colorado   Page 38 of 80



QB\14053308. 1 - 26 - 
 
 

enacted in 1996, the actions HUD is authorized to take after conducting a review are contained in 

Section 405(c): 

(c)  Effect of Reviews-The Secretary may make appropriate adjustments in the 
amount of the annual grants under this chapter in accordance with the findings of 
the Secretary pursuant to reviews and audits under this section. The Secretary 
may adjust, reduce, or withdraw grant amounts, or take other action as appropriate 
in accordance with the reviews and audits of the Secretary under this section, 
except that grant amounts already expended on affordable housing activities may 
not be recaptured or deducted from future assistance provided on behalf of an 
Indian tribe. 
 

Id. (emphasis added).  The plain meaning of Section 405 as enacted in 1996 prohibited HUD 

from recapturing any grant funds that had already been expended on affordable housing 

activities.  

 Section 405 of NAHASDA was amended in 2000 in § 1003 of P.L. 106-568 (2000).  This 

amendment moved the Effect of Reviews provision to Section 405(d).  Section 405(d), as 

amended, provides: 

(d)  Effect of Reviews-Subject to 401(a), after reviewing the reports and audits 
relating to a recipient that are submitted to the Secretary under this section, the 
Secretary may adjust the amount of a grant made to a recipient under this Act in 
accordance with the findings of the Secretary with respect to those reports and 
audits.  
 

Id. (emphasis added).  After the 2000 Amendment, HUD's actions, including adjustments to the 

amount of a grant made to a recipient, are clearly subject to the requirements of Section 401(a).  

Therefore, any recapture authorized by Section 405(d) must be carried out in accordance with the 

requirements of Section 401(a).   

Section 401(a) provides, inter alia, that: 

(1)… the Secretary shall— 
 
     *** 
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(B)  reduce payments under this Act to the recipient by an amount of such 
payments that were not expended in accordance with this Act;… 
 

Id. (emphasis added).  Thus, under Section 401(a), HUD may only recapture amounts that were 

not expended in accordance with NAHASDA.  Section 401(a) does not allow for recapture of 

funds spent in accordance with NAHASDA.  Therefore, all recaptures under Section 405(d) are 

subject to this requirement.  Funds are spent in accordance with NAHASDA when they are 

expended on eligible affordable housing activities. See Section 202 of NAHASDA, 25 U.S.C. 

§ 4132.  

 Pursuant to Section 405(c) as enacted in 1996 and Section 405(d) as amended in 2000, 

HUD was prohibited at all times from recapturing funds that had been spent on affordable 

housing activities.  Prior to recapturing for FCAS overcounts, HUD never made a determination 

on whether the funds had been expended on affordable housing activities.  HUD was required to 

make this determination in order for the recapture to be lawful.  At a minimum, HUD was 

required to give notice and opportunity to allow a recipient to make this showing.  Plaintiffs have 

never been afforded this opportunity to demonstrate that grant funds had in fact been spent on 

affordable housing activities.  HUD's recapture of Plaintiffs' grant amounts that had been spent 

on affordable housing activities was unlawful.  

 C. HUD Violated 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532.  

In addition to violating NAHASDA, HUD also violated the implementing regulation 

when it recaptured funds that had been spent on affordable housing activities.  24 C.F.R. § 

1000.532(a) prohibits the recapture of NAHASDA funds that have been expended on affordable 

housing activities.  That regulation was promulgated as part of the First Negotiated Rulemaking 

after the enactment of NAHASDA.  See 63 Fed. Reg. 12349 (Mar. 12, 1998) (NRA "4", p. 16).  

The regulation is consistent with the prohibition contained in Section 405(c) of NAHASDA.  
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After the 2000 amendment to Section 405, the regulation is consistent with the prohibition 

contained in Section 405(d).  At all times applicable to the recaptures at issue in these cases, 24 

C.F.R. § 1000.532 was in effect and consistent with NAHASDA.  HUD had no lawful authority 

to recapture grant amounts that had already been spent on affordable housing activities.   

 D. HUD's Violations of NAHASDA and 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532(a) were also 
Violations of Section 706 of the APA. 

 
 HUD's actions outlined in this section also violate Section 706 of the APA, including the 

following sections: 

 Section 706(2)(A).  HUD's actions were "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 

discretion [and]…not in accordance with law."  Olenhouse, 42 F.3d at 1573-4; 

 Section 706(2)(C).  HUD acted "in excess of statutory…authority, or 

limitations, [and]…short of statutory right."  Id.; and 

 Section 706(2)(D).  HUD acted "without observance of procedure required by 

law".  Id. 

III. The 2008 Reauthorization Act, Which the Tenth Circuit Expressly Declined to 
Consider in Fort Peck II, Requires This Court to Find 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) Invalid 
Under the Law as it Existed Through Fiscal Year 2008. 
 

A. Summary. 
 

The adoption of the 2008 Reauthorization Act, which the Tenth Circuit in Fort Peck II 

explicitly excluded from its consideration,28 requires this Court to find that HUD has: 1) 

unlawfully deprived Plaintiffs of millions of dollars in federal block grant funding; or 2) is now 

attempting to unlawfully recapture funding.  HUD's actions in this regard are arbitrary, 

capricious and in excess of lawful authority.   

                                                 
28  367 Fed.Appx. at 885, n. 1. 

Case 1:05-cv-00018-RPM   Document 75   Filed 07/26/11   USDC Colorado   Page 41 of 80



QB\14053308. 1 - 29 - 
 
 

For many years prior to the enactment of the 2008 Reauthorization Act, HUD reduced 

Plaintiffs' block grant payments, and/or asserted that Plaintiffs had been overfunded, by 

categorically eliminating certain dwelling units from the calculation of their FCAS.  In 

particular, HUD eliminated Mutual Help and Turnkey III homes under the Annual Contributions 

Contracts as of September 30, 1997 if: 1) those homes had been conveyed; or 2) the 25-year term 

had expired.  Several TDHEs, including Plaintiffs, have challenged HUD's reduction of block 

grant funding in this manner as being based upon an unlawful and invalid regulation (24 C.F.R. § 

1000.318(a)) which impermissibly conflicts with NAHASDA's formula allocation provision, 25 

U.S.C. § 4152(b)(1). 

After this Court's Fort Peck I decision, HUD "developed a number of statutory 

amendments to NAHASDA" for Congress to consider during the NAHASDA reauthorization 

process and presented these changes to the relevant committees of Congress.  O. Cabrera 

Statement at 2 (NRA "5"); R. Boyd Statement at 2 (NRA "6").  Included in the proposed 

amendments developed by HUD was an amendment to NAHASDA's formula allocation 

provision.  On June 6, 2007, Orlando Cabrera (of HUD) submitted a Statement to the House 

Subcommittee on Housing summarizing the proposed amendment to the formula allocation 

provision as follows: 

An amendment to…the [Indian Housing Block Grant] Allocation Formula, would 
change the way that housing units are counted for formula purposes.  It would 
stop counting units for FCAS purposes in the year after they are conveyed, 
demolished or disposed of. 

 
O. Cabrera Statement at 2, 3.  (emphasis added).  See also R. Boyd Statement at 3. 

 As previously set forth, the 2008 Reauthorization Act as enacted had two particularly 

relevant provisions concerning the proper interpretation of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a).  First, at 

HUD's urging, the Act amended the previous law governing the calculation of FCAS, so as to 
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authorize HUD to exclude units in the year after they are "lost to the recipient by conveyance, 

demolition or other means" as provided by § 1000.318(a).  See 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b)(1).  Second, 

the Act provided that the relevant changes would not be applicable through fiscal year 2008 as to 

tribes that filed an action challenging recapture within 45 days of the passage of the  Act.  Id. at § 

4152(b)(1)(E).    

 In its unpublished decision handed down 18 months after the passage of the 2008 

Reauthorization Act, the Tenth Circuit reversed the district court's decision in Fort Peck I.  As an 

unpublished opinion, Fort Peck II is not precedential and is not binding on Plaintiffs except 

possibly as to Fort Peck.29   

 Moreover, while the Fort Peck II Court expressly noted the existence of the 2008 

Reauthorization Act, the Court made it explicit that it did not consider the impact of the 2008 

Reauthorization Act, limiting its analysis to the 2002 version of NAHASDA.  367 Fed.Appx. at 

885, n. 1.  Thus, with respect to the 2008 Reauthorization Act, the Tenth Circuit's unpublished 

decision did not address:  

(a) the fact that Congress made substantive changes to NAHASDA's formula 

                                                 
29  Under 10th Cir. R. 32.1(A), "[u]npublished decisions are not precedential…" (emphasis 
added).  At the same time, unpublished cases may be cited for their persuasive value and under 
the doctrines of "law of the case, claim preclusion and issue preclusion."  Id.  To the extent that 
the "law of the case" doctrine applies at all it would only apply to the Fort Peck tribe and not to 
the other Plaintiffs.  Moreover, it is a fundamental rule of civil procedure that one who was not a 
party to an action is not bound by the judgment.  See, e.g., Richards v. Jefferson County, Ala., 
517 U.S. 793, 798 (1996) (citing Hansberry v. Lee, 311 U.S. 32, 40 (1940)).  The Supreme Court 
recently reiterated that "[a] person who was not a party to a suit generally has not had a 'full and 
fair opportunity to litigate' the claims and issues settled in that suit," so that applying preclusion 
principles in such cases "runs up against the deep-rooted historic tradition that everyone should 
have his own day in court."  Taylor v. Sturgell, 553 U.S. 880, 892-93 (2008) (quoting Richards, 
517 U.S. at 798 (internal quotation marks omitted)). Thus, for the Plaintiffs that were not parties 
to the Fort Peck litigation, the Tenth Circuit's unpublished Fork Peck II decision cannot present 
any claim preclusion or issue preclusion problem.  In sum, because the Tenth Circuit's Fort Peck 
II decision is unpublished, it could only be cited in the cases at bar as--at most--persuasive 
authority.  See 10th Cir. R. 32.1(A) 
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allocation provision which incorporate § 1000.318(a), the regulation found 
to be invalid by this Court in Fort Peck I;  

 
(b) the aforementioned HUD testimony before Congress prior to enactment of 

the 2008 Reauthorization Act admitting that the then-proposed 
amendment: "would change the way that housing units in management are 
counted for formula purposes" by not "counting units for FCAS purposes 
in the year after they are conveyed, demolished or disposed of"; or 

 
(c) the fact that Congress expressly declined to apply the amendment 

retroactively to TDHEs that filed a civil action within 45 days of the 2008 
Reauthorization Act's effective date,  authorizing federal litigation to be 
filed under the pre-amendment version of the formula allocation provision. 

 
Applying pertinent rules of statutory construction, these aspects of the 2008 

Reauthorization Act, which remain unaddressed, confirm that 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) is invalid 

because it violates the pre-amendment version of NAHASDA's formula allocation provision, 25 

U.S.C. § 4152(b), which requires that the FCAS portion of the NAHASDA funding formula, for 

each fiscal year through 2008, be based on the number of low-income housing dwelling units 

owned or operated pursuant to an Annual Contributions Contract as of September 30, 1997.   

B. Discussion. 
 

Given the limited issues actually decided by the Tenth Circuit in Fort Peck II and the 

general remand order "for action consistent with this order", this Court is free, even as to Fort 

Peck, to decide issues not decided by the Circuit.  See Pittsburg County Rural Water District No. 

7 v. City of McAlester, 358 F.3d 694, 711 (10th Cir. 2004) ("When further proceedings follow a 

general remand, the lower court is free to decide anything not foreclosed by the mandate issued 

by the higher court."); Guidry v. Sheet Metal Workers Int'l Ass'n Local No. 9, 10 F.3d 700, 705 

(10th Cir. 1993) (same).  Specifically the Fort Peck II Court did not consider whether, and to 

what extent, the 2008 Reauthorization Act impacts the interpretation of the pre-amendment 

formula allocation provision.  For that reason, it falls on this Court to consider Plaintiffs' claims 
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in light of the 2008 amendments.  Applying basic rules of statutory construction, the 2008 

amendment to the formula allocation provision confirms that 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) is invalid 

because it violates the provision as it existed prior to enactment of the 2008 Reauthorization Act.    

There are several general and specific rules of statutory construction that are pertinent 

here.  The Court's primary task in construing statutes is to "determine congressional intent, using 

'traditional tools of statutory interpretation.'"  NLRB v. United Food & Commercial Workers 

Union, 484 U.S. 112, 123 (1987) (quoting INS v. Cardoza-Fonseca, 480 U.S. 421, 446 (1987)).   

As stated in Sutherland Statutory Construction: 
 

[I]n search for legislative intent, courts look to the objective to be attained, the 
nature of the subject matter and the contextual setting.  The statute is construed as 
a whole with reference to the system of which it is part …[L]egislative intent 
must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used and that 
language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose. 
 

2A Norman J. Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction § 45.05 (7th ed.) (citations omitted). 30 

 Beginning with an analysis of the language of the amendment to the formula allocation 

provision, it is clear the amendment constitutes a substantive and material change in the way that 

housing units are to be counted for FCAS purposes.  Again, the pre-amendment version of the 

provision included "[t]he number of low-income housing dwelling units owned or operated at the 

time [September 30, 1997] pursuant to a contract between an Indian housing authority for the 

                                                 
30  Sutherland has been repeatedly cited with approval and relied upon by the United States 
Supreme Court, Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals and United States District Court for the District 
of Colorado.  See, e.g., Dolan v. United States, 130 S. Ct. 2533, 2540 (2010); Metro. Stevedore 
Co. v. Rambo, 515 U.S. 291, 296 (1995); United Rentals NW., Inc. v. Yearout Mech., Inc., 573 
F.3d 997, 1001 (10th Cir. 2009); Shawnee Tribe v. United States, 423 F.3d 1204, 1215-16 (10th 
Cir. 2005); Amerada Hess Corp. v. Dep't of Interior, 170 F.3d 1032, 1034 (10th Cir. 1999); 
Gentile v. Orthodontic Centers of N. Dakota, CIV. A. 05-CV-02062EW, 2007 WL 2890199 (D. 
Colo. Sept. 27, 2007); RX Pharmacies Plus, Inc. v. Weil, 883 F. Supp. 549, 554 (D. Colo. 1995). 
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tribe and the Secretary"31 as a mandatory FCAS factor.  25 U.S.C. § 4152(b)(1).32  Now, through 

the 2008 Reauthorization Act, the provision has been materially altered so that housing units are 

only counted for FCAS purposes if they "are owned or operated by a recipient on the October 1 

of the calendar year immediately preceding the year for which funds are provided" and have not 

been "lost to the recipient by conveyance, demolition, or other means…".  PL 110-411, § 301.  

The amended provision incorporates the very regulatory provision found to be invalid by the 

Fort Peck I Court and thereby cures the invalid regulation prospectively.  See 24 C.F.R. § 

1000.318(a).  Looking simply at this statutory language, it is apparent that Congress has made a 

substantive change in the way that housing units are to be counted for FCAS purposes.  It is 

well-established that "[w]hen Congress acts to amend a statute, [courts are to] 'presume it intends 

its amendment to have real and substantial effect.'"  Pierce County, Washington v. Guillen, 537 

U.S. 129, 145 (2003) (quoting Stone v. INS, 514 U.S. 386, 397 (1995)). If the amendment did not 

constitute a substantive change in the way that housing units are to be counted for FCAS 

purposes, then the amendment would have no "real and substantial effect."  If the formula 

allocation provision had not originally mandated the inclusion of 1997 units, the amendment 

would have been unnecessary.  Thus, the amendment confirms that, until the effective date of the 

amendment (2008), the formula allocation provision mandated the inclusion of units owned or 

operated as of September 30, 1997.  

                                                 
31  The Tenth Circuit, in Fort Peck II, determined that the pre-amendment formula allocation 
provision "explicitly list[ed]…the number of 1997 dwelling units" as one of the FCAS factors.  
367 Fed.Appx. at 890. 
  
32  It is well-established that when Congress instructs an agency to consider specific factors in its 
implementation of a statute, the agency must consider those factors in full. See, e.g., Wedelstedt 
v. Wiley, 477 F.3d 1160, 1164 (10th Cir. 2007); Woodall v. Fed. Bureau of Prisons, 432 F.3d 
235, 247 (3rd Cir. 2005); Levine v. Apker, 455 F.3d 71, 81 (2nd Cir. 2006). 
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 The context in which the amendment was passed further bolsters the conclusion that the 

pre-amendment provision required inclusion of units owned or operated as of September 30, 

1997.  Sutherland provides that "if the legislature adopts an amendment urged by a witness [at a 

committee hearing], it may be assumed that the intent voiced was adopted by the legislature." 2A 

Sutherland, supra, at § 48:10 (emphasis added).33  Here, there is no doubt that the amendment to 

the formula allocation provision was developed and proposed by HUD.  See O. Cabrera 

Statement at 2 (NRA "4"); R. Boyd Statement at 3 (NRA "5").  On two separate occasions, HUD 

representatives gave statements before Congressional committees concerning the proposed 

amendment to the formula allocation provision.  Id.  On both occasions, HUD asserted the 

proposed amendment "would change" the law  by no longer "counting units…in the year after 

they are conveyed, demolished or disposed of."  Id. (emphasis added).   

In developing and proposing the amendment, HUD plainly sought a change in 

NAHASDA's formula allocation provision that would bring it into conformity with the 

regulation found to be invalid by the Fort Peck I Court.  By inference, HUD acknowledged the 

irreconcilable conflict between the statutory formula allocation provision and § 1000.318.  

Ultimately, in passing the 2008 Reauthorization Act, Congress adopted the amendment as 

proposed by HUD.  See PL 110-411, § 301.  Therefore, it must be assumed that the intent voiced 

by HUD--that the amendment "would change the way that housing units in management are 

                                                 
33  Citing United States v. Henning, 344 U.S. 66 (1952); Schwegmann Bros. v. Calvert Distillers 
Corp., 341 U.S. 384 (1951); United States v. American Trucking Ass'ns, 310 U.S. 534, 548 
(1940) ("[T]he Commission's interpretation gains much persuasiveness from the fact that it was 
the Commission which suggested the provisions' enactment to Congress."); Securities & 
Exchange Commission v. Robert Collier & Co., 76 F.2d 939 (C.C.A. 2d Cir. 1935) (witness was 
person chiefly responsible for the prosecution of the functions conferred by the bill); Bailey v. 
United States, 52 Fed. Cl. 105 (2002); In re Teligent, Inc., 268 B.R. 723, 38 Bankr. Ct. Dec. 
(CRR) 158 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2001). 
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counted for formula purposes" by not "counting units…in the year after they are conveyed, 

demolished or disposed of"--was adopted by Congress.  2A Sutherland, supra, at § 48:10.34  

 Sutherland further provides that "[w]here a former statute is amended, or a doubtful 

meaning clarified by subsequent legislation, such amendment or subsequent legislation is strong 

evidence of the legislative intent of the first statute."  2B Sutherland, supra, at § 49:11.  "A 

number of cases have held that where an act is amended or changed so that doubtful meaning is 

resolved such action constitutes evidence that the previous statute meant the contrary."  Id. 

(emphasis added).  "This theory is based on the fact that the legislature is not presumed to 

perform a useless act."  Id.  Furthermore, an "amended statute should be interpreted in light of 

the court decisions that may have prompted the amendment."  1A Sutherland, supra, at § 22:29.   

 The timing of HUD's development of the amendment to the formula allocation provision 

cannot be ignored.  The amendment was developed by HUD in close temporal proximity to this 

Court's decision in Fork Peck I.  As the amendment was clearly intended to change the existing 

law to bring it into conformity with § 1000.318, it is apparent that the amendment was developed 

in response to Fork Peck I.  In making this change, it is presumed that Congress did not perform 

a "useless act."  2B Sutherland at § 49:11.  Congress, by changing the statutory formula 

allocation provision to conform with § 1000.318(a), was addressing the exact regulatory 

infirmity at issue in Fork Peck I.  Congress was attempting to statutorily "fix" the problem as 

                                                 
34  Recent statements from HUD representatives indicate that HUD has continued to characterize 
the amendment to the formula allocation provision as a change in the law. See, e.g., Letter from 
HUD to John Fredericks, February 16, 2011 at 3 (discussing the "change" in PL 110-411, § 301 
(A) through (D)), attached as NRA "18"; HUD Letter, September 8, 2010 at 4-5 ("The 
amendments to [the formula allocation provision] in essence provide that units conveyed or 
eligible to be conveyed prior to October 1 of the calendar year immediately preceding the FY for 
which funds are provided are not eligible as FCAS… Since the [TDHE] has filed a civil suit, 
these amendments do not apply to your claims for any FY through FY 2008"), attached as NRA 
"19".   
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outlined in Fork Peck I.  This provides additional confirmation that the amendment plainly has a 

contrary meaning from that of the prior formula allocation provision at issue in the cases at bar.  

This can only mean that the pre-amendment formula allocation provision required FCAS to 

include the 1997 housing units.  

Additionally, by authorizing the filing of civil actions under the pre-amendment formula 

allocation provision (see PL 110-411, § 301(E)), Congress further demonstrated its intent.  If the 

amendment constituted nothing but a clarification of existing law, there would be no need for the 

provision permitting Tribes to file suit under the pre-amendment formula allocation provision, as 

these Plaintiffs did.  This "civil action" provision would be yet another "useless act".  If the 

amendment was merely a clarification, there would be no use in distinguishing between the 

effect of the original statute and the amended statute in any manner.35  Instead, with the "civil 

action" provision, Congress made clear that TDHEs, such as these Plaintiffs, were to have the 

benefit of the pre-2008 Reauthorization Act language as to the historic operation of their 

programs.  This constitutes a Congressional acknowledgment that the formula allocation 

provision has been materially changed by the amendment.  

The Second Circuit faced analogous circumstances in Commissioner of Internal Revenue 

v. Callahan Realty Corp., 143 F.2d 214 (2nd Cir. 1944).  There, the United States Tax Court 

invalidated an IRS regulation that used the term "sale or exchange of stock or securities", while 

the pertinent section of the authorizing statute was limited to the "sale of stock or securities".  

143 F.2d at 215 (emphasis added).  Congress subsequently amended the authorizing statute to 

incorporate the regulation, but explicitly made the effective date prospective.  On appeal, the 

                                                 
35  It should also be noted that, with the "civil action" provision, Congress acted to significantly 
limit the possible impact of this litigation.  Due to the discrete class of housing authorities now 
entitled to the benefit of the pre-amendment formula allocation provision, this litigation does not 
threaten to force a major restructuring of the housing program as HUD has alleged. 
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commissioner continued to argue that the regulation was valid.  The Second Circuit rejected the 

commissioner's argument, however, relying largely on Congress' decision to limit the effect of 

the amendment to a prospective time period: 

This limitation upon the effect of the amendment seems to us to show that it 
plainly was not made merely to clarify existing law.  Had the intent of Congress 
been only to state more clearly what the statute had meant from its original 
enactment, there would have been no point in limiting the effect of the 
restatement to the period following December 31, 1936.  We think such a 
limitation shows that it did realize that the amendment enlarged the scope of the 
original enactment and made sure that taxpayers would understand that it was not 
to be applied retroactively…. 
 
We think it now tips the scales in favor of the respondent and leads to the 
conclusion that the regulation was a broadening of the original statute involving 
legislation beyond the power of the treasury.  Until Congress itself amended the 
statute the regulation went beyond its scope and was invalid.  The decision of the 
Tax Court was therefore right.  
 

Id. at 216 (emphasis added).36   

Tenth Circuit precedent is in accord with the analysis in Callahan Realty.  See, e.g., 

Suiter v. Mitchell Motor Coach Sales, 151 F.3d 1275, 1281, n.7 (10th Cir. 1998) (holding that a 

subsequent amendment to a statute that validated an agency's authority under an existing 

regulation did not affect the court's decision that the regulation was invalid prior to the 

amendment).  By amending the formula allocation provision to incorporate § 1000.318(a), and 

permitting litigation to be filed under the pre-amendment version of the provision, Congress 

                                                 
36  The Callahan Realty Court so reasoned and held, despite the fact that the legislative history 
described the amendment as a clarification. See 143 F.2d at 216.  Here, the legislative history 
contains HUD's admission that the 2008 Reauthorization Act "changed" the law.  See text, p. 29, 
ante. 
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acknowledged that § 1000.318(a) was a "broadening of the original statute involving legislation 

beyond the power of" HUD.  Callahan Realty, 143 F.2d at 216.37 

 For the foregoing reasons, this Court should find and conclude that all FCAS units that 

were the subject of an Annual Contribution Contract between HUD and each Plaintiff as of 

September 30, 1997 must be included in each Plaintiff's FCAS for purposes of grant funding 

calculations, for all applicable fiscal years through fiscal year 2008.   

IV. HUD Violated The Pre 2008 Version of NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 and the 
APA By Excluding and Reducing Funding for Units That Were Not Actually Lost by 
Conveyance to a Third Party, Demolition or Otherwise.  �

   
 HUD improperly excluded FCAS and/or recaptured funding for FCAS that had not 

actually been lost by conveyance, demolition or otherwise in violation of NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. 

§ 1000.318 and the APA. 

                                                 
37  The formula allocation provision should also be interpreted pursuant to the Indian Canons of 
Construction.  Under the Indian Canons of Construction, "statutes are to be construed liberally in 
favor of Indians, with ambiguous provisions interpreted to their benefit."  Montana v. Blackfeet 
Tribe of Indians, 471 U.S. 759, 766 (1985). See also South Carolina v. Catawba Indian Tribe, 
Inc, 476 U.S. 498, 506 (1986) ("[D]oubtful expressions of legislative intent must be resolved in 
favor of the Indians").  The Canons further provide "for a broad construction when the issue is 
whether Indian rights are reserved or established, and for a narrow construction when Indian 
rights are to be abrogated or limited."  Nat'l Labor Relations Bd. v. Pueblo of San Juan¸ 276 F.3d 
1186, 1194 (10th Cir. 2002) (citing Bryan v. Itasca County, Minnesota, 426 U.S. 373 (1976)).  
Additionally, the familiar "Chevron deference" that courts normally grant to a federal agency's 
interpretation of statutes it administers is applied with "muted effect" in cases involving Indians.  
See Cobell v. Salazar, 573 F.3d 808, 812 (D.C. Cir. 2009).  
 
       To the extent that the formula allocation provision is ambiguous, it should be interpreted to 
the benefit of Plaintiffs.  The term "based on" is prominently used in the formula allocation 
provision.  Under the provision, FCAS must be "based on" three statutory factors, including the 
number of housing units owned or operated at September 30, 1997 pursuant to an Annual 
Contributions Contract.  The Fort Peck II Court declined to apply the Indian Canons of 
Construction, finding the formula allocation provision to be unambiguous.  Fort Peck II, 367 
Fed.Appx. at 892.  However, again, the Court did not consider the impact of the 2008 
Reauthorization Act.  In view of the 2008 Reauthorization Act analysis presented herein, the 
phrase "based on" should not be construed to permit HUD to categorically eliminate statutorily 
mandated 1997 housing units from FCAS in this manner. 
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A. Fort Peck II Did Not Decide the Issue Arising From Units Which a TDHE 
Continues to Own or Operate.    

 
The Fort Peck II decision upheld 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) to the extent it was applied to 

exclude units which a TDHE "no longer owned or operated".  367 Fed.Appx. at 891, 892.  

However, in many instances, HUD also deprived TDHEs of funding for units that a TDHE 

continued to own or operate.  Because the Tenth Circuit, in upholding 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a), 

repeatedly characterized the regulation as one which excluded dwelling units which a TDHE "no 

longer owned or operated", its holding did not, implicitly or otherwise, encompass units which a 

TDHE continued to own or operate.  See Copart, Inc. v. Admin. Review Bd., 495 F.3d 1197, 

1201-1202 (10th Cir. 2007) (explaining the grounds under which a decision may implicitly 

encompass other claims or issues).   

Indeed, the Tenth Circuit did not even address dwelling units that a TDHE continued to 

own and operate.  Rather, the Tenth Circuit's repeated references to units which are "no longer 

owned and operated" excludes units which remain owned or operated from the regulation's scope 

under the maxims "Inclusio unius est exclusio alterius" (the inclusion of one is the exclusion of 

another), and "Expressio unius est exclusio alterius" (the express mention of one thing implies 

the exclusion of another thing not so mentioned).  See In re Villa West Associates, 146 F.3d 798, 

805 n.6 (10th Cir. 1998); see also, Youren v. Tintic Sch. Dist., 343 F.3d 1296, 1307-1308 (10th 

Cir. 2003).  

B. NAHASDA Requires HUD to Fund Units a TDHE Continues to Own or 
Operate in the Appropriation Year 

 
 Prior to the 2008 Reauthorization Act, NAHASDA required that all annual Housing 

Plans submitted by TDHEs provide "a description of the manner in which the recipient will 

protect and maintain the viability of housing owned and operated by the recipient…" and "a 
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certification that the recipient will maintain adequate insurance for housing units that are owned 

and operated or assisted with grant amounts provided under this Act,..".  Sections 102(c)(4)(D) 

and (5)(B)(1998) (emphasis added).  The 2008 Reauthorization Act continues those 

requirements.  See Sections 102(b)(2)(A)(v) and (D)(ii).  NAHASDA unambiguously requires 

TDHEs to protect, maintain and insure housing units the TDHE continues to own and operate 

and HUD cannot, by regulation, deprive TDHEs of the funds necessary to meet those 

requirements. 

Nevertheless, 24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.318(a)(1) and (2) permit HUD to exclude Mutual Help 

units for grant purposes if HUD finds that the TDHE has not conveyed those units "as soon as is 

practicable" after they are eligible for conveyance, or if HUD finds that the TDHE does not 

"actively enforce strict compliance" of an MHOA by the homebuyer.  Putting HUD in control of 

determining when a TDHE fails to convey a home "as soon as practicable" after it becomes 

eligible as opposed to giving the TDHE the discretion to make this determination, and giving 

HUD the authority to determine when a TDHE is not actively enforcing the terms of the Mutual 

Help Agreement (i.e., evicting the homebuyer), as opposed to giving that discretion to the 

TDHE, defies the congressional policy of self-determination that is at the core of NAHASDA, as 

well as the congressional intent to give tribes more control over the administration of funding for 

their own housing programs.  See 25 U.S.C. § 4101.  Moreover, it deprives TDHEs of the 

funding TDHEs are required to expend to protect, maintain and insure housing units the TDHE 

continues to own and operate. 
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C. HUD's Systematic Exclusion of Units That Were Still Owned or Operated by 
Plaintiffs in the Pertinent Grant year Violated NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. § 
1000.318 and the APA and Was Unrelated to Need. 

 
 Giving Fort Peck II an unnecessarily expansive reading to include dwelling units that the 

Plaintiffs still own and operate would render Fort Peck II in direct conflict with the  Tenth 

Circuit's published decision in Keetoowah, 567 F.3d 1235.  At issue in Keetoowah was the 

Formula Area requirement of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.302--and, more specifically, the requirement that 

an Indian tribe exercise court jurisdiction over its Formula Area as a condition of funding.  

Keetoowah, 567 F.3d at 1240-41.  This Court held that such a funding requirement was contrary 

to Congress' plainly expressed intent because 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b) unambiguously states that the 

amount of IHBG funding must be based on housing need:  

Section 4152(b) states that "[t]he formula shall be based on factors that reflect the 
need of the Indian tribes and the Indian areas of the tribes for assistance for 
affordable housing activities." 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b) (emphasis added). This 
language explicitly and unambiguously mandates that the factors in HUD's 
allocation formula reflect--in other words, have some connection or nexus with--
the need of Indian tribes and Indian areas of the tribes. The language does not 
permit of any other reading. Moreover, though HUD argues to the contrary, there 
is no other language in the statute creating ambiguity such that we would have to 
apply deference under Chevron's step two. 

 
Keetoowah, 567 F.3d at 1241.  

 The Court went on to reject HUD's argument that the third "catch all" factor in 25 

U.S.C. § 4152(b)(3) somehow gave HUD the discretion to impose the court jurisdiction 

requirement: 

HUD claims that NAHASDA is ambiguous in that Congress enumerated several 
factors that HUD could consider in creating the allocation formula and included a 
catch-all factor arguably broad enough to permit the jurisdictional requirement of 
24 C.F.R. § 1000.302.  NAHASDA does list as one factor such "[o]ther 
objectively measurable conditions as the Secretary and the Indian tribes may 
specify." 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b)(3).  However, the existence of this catch-all factor 
does not create ambiguity in the statute, because even the "other objectively 
measurable conditions" must be related to need.  When interpreting the meaning 
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of this statutory language, we "must examine the . . . language in context, not in 
isolation." United States v. Nichols, 184 F.3d 1169, 1171 (10th Cir. 1999) 
(internal quotation marks omitted).  Section 4152(b) states that the formula must 
be based on "factors that reflect the need of the Indian tribes and the Indian areas 
of the tribes for assistance for affordable housing activities, including" three 
specific factors. 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b).  Included in the list of three factors is the 
"other objectively measurable conditions" factor. See id. § 4152(b)(3).  Thus, it is 
clear from looking at the structure and language of § 4152(b) in its entirety that 
Congress did not allow for non-need-based considerations when it included 
subsection (b)(3).  Rather, subsection (b)(3) is simply one of the need-based 
factors that Congress explicitly specified; to the extent it functions as a catch-all 
factor, it is a catch-all for need-based considerations  only. 
 

567 F.3d at 1242. 
  
 Given the holding in Keetoowah, HUD is obligated to apply § 1000.318 in a manner 

that is consistent with NAHASDA's focus on need.  The conveyance "as soon as practicable" 

requirement of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a)(1), and the requirement in § 1000.318(a)(2) that 

Plaintiffs "actively enforce strict compliance" with the terms of the MHOA as a condition of 

funding for FCAS units Plaintiffs still own and operate are not factors that are related to housing 

need within the meaning of Keetoowah.  As described below, HUD has utilized a number of non-

need based factors to exclude housing units from FCAS that were still owned or operated by 

Plaintiffs in the pertinent grant year, and those factors are indistinguishable from the tribal court 

jurisdiction factor struck down in Keetoowah.  Furthermore, even assuming subsections (a)(1) 

and (2) are valid,  those factors can and do make conveyance of a unit “impracticable,” despite 

“strict compliance” with the tenant’s lease or rental agreement, and therefore these same factors 

violate the standards of 24 C.F.R. §1000.318.38        

                                                 
38  The 2008 amendments to § 4152(b)(1) now allow TDHEs to continue to count demolished 
FCAS units if they are replaced within one year of demolition.  See 25 U.S.C. § 4152 (b) (1) (C) 
(2009 Supp.).  There have been cases where Plaintiffs have demolished and replaced FCAS units 
but HUD has still excluded and recaptured funding for these units  under the guise of § 1000.318 
(a).  See, e.g., Blackfeet Housing AR, Tab 56, p. 578 and Northwest Inupiat Housing Authority 
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 The Court can and should require HUD to include and fully fund dwelling units that the 

Plaintiffs continue to own and operate as either low rent or mutual help under Section 4152(b) as 

interpreted by Keetoowah, and under 24 C.F.R. §1000.318.  By its terms, § 4152 (b) (1) entitles 

Plaintiffs to FCAS funding for units they continue to own or operate.  For numerous lawful and 

good faith reasons, recipients such as the Plaintiffs continue to own or operate a Mutual Help 

home even after completion of the 15 or 25 year contract term described in the originally filed 

Complaints.  At the counting phase of these actions, Plaintiffs will demonstrate that HUD 

refused to consider situations where a TDHE could, legitimately and in the exercise of its self-

determination, delay or even forgo conveyance.  Seven examples follow.   

 First, a tenant may be in arrears in his or her payment or other obligations at the 

time the home becomes eligible for conveyance.  The Plaintiffs generally do not convey 

dwelling units until all of the requirements of the MHOA are satisfied, including the requirement 

to make full payment on the amount owed on the home.  It is the Plaintiffs' position that these 

homes are not eligible for conveyance until they are paid off.  Nevertheless, HUD has instituted a 

categorical rule that allows it to remove units from FCAS when the homebuyer still owes money 

on the home at the end of the contract term.  See NAHASDA Guidance 98-19 (September 11, 

1998).  HUD has also cited the 1993 form MHOA to support its position that units can be 

removed from FCAS upon the expiration of the amortization period, even if there is a delinquent 

balance due at the time.  Neither argument supports HUD's action. 

HUD's Guidance 98-19 states that "because promissory notes can be issued, tenant 

                                                                                                                                                             
AR, Tab 46, pp, 1721-1726, both attached as RA "10".  This action is unlawful as well because it 
is not a need based requirement under Keetoowah, supra. 
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accounts receivable alone is not adequate for non-conveyance."39  There is no lawful basis for 

such a rule, and this is so regardless of the fact that it is contained in a HUD Guidance.40  The 

Guidance is directly contrary to the Plaintiffs' obligations under the MHOAs because Plaintiffs 

could not convey the units until they were paid off.  See pp. 45, 46, post.  Moreover, in many 

cases the Guidance directly contradicts the Plaintiffs' Admissions and Occupancy and Collection 

policies.  See, e.g., Fort Peck AR, p. 0052, attached as RA "12"; see also Fort Peck I, 435 F. 

Supp 2d at 1132, n. 6 and accompanying text.   

The Guidance is not supported by § 1000.318 because the regulation requires conveyance 

as soon as practicable after the unit "becomes eligible" for conveyance and, as shown above, a 

unit is not eligible until it is paid off.  In this regard, the Guidance is directly contrary to HUD's 

own statement in the Federal Register notice implementing the final Rule that units must be 

                                                 
39  In any commercial transaction, the notion that a creditor can better protect its position by 
trading ownership of real property for a promissory note alone from a delinquent and possibly 
impecunious debtor is nonsense.  It is certainly not a “practicable” notion under 24 C.F.R. § 
1000.318. 
 
40  The fact that HUD's adoption of Guidance 98-19 constitutes unlawful rule making and is thus 
unenforceable is discussed in Section V, post.  Further, this arbitrary, one-size-fits-all rule also 
precludes HUD from considering the exigencies of individual circumstances.  For example, 
THRHA is the Native Alaskan housing authority for most of the Southeast Alaska Panhandle.  In 
the years prior to NAHASDA, THRHA was embroiled in a region-wide class action lawsuit over 
the condition of the region's HUD-assisted homes, during which THRHA's tenants engaged in a 
systematic rent strike, piling up large accounts receivable.  THRHA AR, Tab 32, p. 674 et seq. 
(attached as RA "11").  Given such a widespread and consequential delinquency, it would have 
been folly, and certainly "impracticable" under 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318, for THRHA to simply 
convey away a substantial part of its inventory on the hope that the new homeowners would 
faithfully pay back their promissory notes.  Id.  A TDHE may be able handle a single 
delinquency or two with a promissory note.  But THRHA was facing a potential loss of a 
significant portion of its income stream, getting in return only an IOU from homebuyers angry at 
the Authority after years of litigation.  Id.  HUD, nonetheless, disregarded THRHA's 
circumstance, and treated the situation as though it were a one-tenant problem.  THRHA AR, 
Tab 37, p. 723 et seq. (RA "7"). 
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conveyed as soon as practicable after they are "paid off".  63 Fed. Reg. 12334, 12343 (March 12, 

1998) (NRA "4", pp. 1, 10).  

The 1993 form MHOA, relied on by HUD to support its actions, was created before 

NAHASDA even existed. The 1993 form was the latest of four versions of the form MHOA used 

by IHAs (Indian Housing Authorities) under the 1937 Housing Act.41  Under the 1937 Housing 

Act, IHAs used HUD funding to subsidize MHOA payments over the 25 year amortization term, 

such that the purchase price of the home was paid off over this period with a combination of 

HUD subsidies and homebuyer payments.  Thus, although section 10.5(h) of the 1993 form 

MHOA states that a home is no longer eligible for assistance when the 25 year term ends, the 

term "assistance" is not in any way related to FCAS funding mandated by NAHASDA.  Instead, 

it refers to modernization assistance and the subsidy that the home received over the 25 year 

amortization period to allow the purchase price to reach zero, assuming that the homebuyer made 

all the required monthly payments.  

While Section 10.5(h) of this MHOA provides that the home is no longer eligible for 

assistance at the expiration of the 25 year term, Section 10.5, when read in context, also 

prohibited the IHA from conveying the home when there was a delinquency at the end of the 

term.  Section 10.5(e) states that the "home shall not be conveyed until the homebuyer has met 

all the obligations under the Agreement, except as provided for in (h) below."  Section 10.5(g) 

also states clearly that the home is not removed from the Mutual Help project under the Annual 

                                                 
41  The MHOA forms refer to IHAs, which performed functions analogous to those now 
performed by TDHEs.  Earlier versions of the form MHOA, though slightly differing in 
language, all provided that the homebuyer was entitled to conveyance only when all of the 
obligations of the MHOA were satisfied, including full payment of the purchase price, or, with 
respect to the 1991 version, a determination by the IHA that the Homebuyer's income had 
reached a sufficient level to qualify for mortgage financing.  Copies of the 1967, 1976, 1991 and 
1993 versions of the MHOAs are attached as NRA "20".  Until 1996, all TDHEs were required 
to use one of these MHOA forms. 
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Contribution Contract until it is conveyed.  Section 10.5(h) must be read in context with these 

other subsections.  In fact, by its terms, Section 10.5(h) actually prohibits an IHA from 

conveying a home when there is a delinquency at the end of the term, and instead requires the 

IHA to collect the delinquency over a three year period or, failing that, evict the homebuyer and 

assign the home to another homebuyer.  While NAHASDA terminated assistance under the 1937 

Act, it did not change the binding nature of homebuyer agreements already entered into such as 

the MHOA.  See  63 Fed. Reg. 4083, 4085 (January 27, 1998), attached as NRA "21". 

Second, a housing authority may still be conducting federally-funded repair or 

modernization work on the house at the time it is otherwise eligible to be conveyed.  In some 

cases homebuyers have refused to accept title until modernization is complete.  See, e.g., letter 

from HUD to Karin Foster dated November 2, 2004, Yakama Nation Housing Authority AR, 

Vol. II, Tab 46, pp. 780-798, attached as RA "13".  In many cases Plaintiffs may be obligated to 

make these repairs because the home has aged and become dilapidated as a result of cheap 

construction, or the Plaintiffs may have been in litigation.42  In a concurring opinion, Judge 

Pregerson of the Ninth Circuit pointed out the reality that Plaintiff Blackfeet Housing, and the 

                                                 
42  For example, during the recapture years, THRHA was in the midst of a multi-million dollar 
rehabilitation project for several hundred homes.  THRHA AR, Tab 32, p. 674 et seq. (RA "11").  
The project was federally-funded under HUD's Comprehensive Grant Program ("CGP"), and was 
needed to satisfy the settlement expectations of the plaintiffs in the class action lawsuit described 
in fn. 40, ante.  At the time that THRHA and its tenants reached agreement over conducting 
these repairs, HUD regulations required that CGP repairs be completed before the home could be 
conveyed—even if the home was otherwise eligible for conveyance.  24 C.F.R. § 
905.602(b)(2)(1994), attached as NRA "22".  When HUD abruptly changed course by issuing 
Guidance 98-19, THRHA was in no position to rewrite its understandings with its homebuyers, 
and could not afford to sink substantial repair funds into homes after conveying them away, 
particularly given that many were occupied by tenants who owed THRHA substantial back rent.  
THRHA AR, Tab 32, p. 674 et seq. (RA "11"); see also fn. 40, ante.  THRHA raised this 
"impracticability" claim, but, like the other tribes and TDHEs in this litigation, were never 
offered an opportunity to adjudicate this claim in a hearing. 
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other Plaintiffs in the northern plains, face in this regard: 

When HUD finally decided to extend its aid to the tribes in the 1960s, see Susan 
J. Ferrell, Indian Housing: The Fourth Decade, 7 St. Thomas L. Rev. 445, 452-53 
(1995), the chosen vehicle was the Mutual Help and Homeownership Program 
("MHHO Program"), through which homes were to be "completed at the lowest 
possible cost."  U.S. Dep't of Hous. & Urban Dev., Manual 7440.1: Interim Indian 
Housing Handbook 3-40 (1976).  In HUD's zeal to save money, it forced 
Plaintiffs' families--and probably members of countless other tribes--to decide 
between rejecting HUD funding altogether or living in homes that were cheaply 
built, homes that tribal members knew would not withstand the Montana climate 
for any period of time.  These Plaintiffs, understandably, chose to take what they 
could get.  And, as a result, Plaintiffs now live in homes infested with black mold 
and other toxins, plagued with structural disintegration, and that have caused high 
incidence of kidney failure, cancer, headaches and bloody noses in the home's 
residents.  Yet many Plaintiffs remain in MHHO housing because, in many cases, 
"it is the only housing they can afford."  See Jessie McQuillan, Rotten Deal, 
Missoula Indep., April 6, 2006, available at http://www. 
missoulanews.com/News/News.asp?no=5625. 
 

Marceau v. Blackfeet Hous. Auth., 455 F.3d 974, 989 (9th Cir. 2006) (Pregerson, J., concurring 

specially) (opinion replaced by Marceau v. Blackfeet Hous. Auth., 540 F.3d 916 (9th Cir. 2008), 

cert. denied 129 S. Ct. 2379 (2009)).  

 Low income Indian families who become home owners or whose units become eligible 

for conveyance are in many cases still low income and in need of affordable housing assistance, 

including modernization and rehabilitation of their old units.  Yet HUD insists that these units, 

once eligible for conveyance after the expiration of the contract term, may not be counted for 

formula purposes, under the guise of §1000.318(a).  Further, most Plaintiffs' Policies allow 

dwelling units that have been conveyed or are eligible for conveyance to be modernized and 

remodeled using NAHASDA funds.  See, e.g., RA "12", supra.  Indeed, homeownership units 

are in need of such assistance even after they have become conveyance eligible, because in many 

cases they have become dilapidated due to the homebuyers' inability to afford repair and 

maintenance costs.   
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 Third, in many cases, Plaintiffs may have demolished and replaced rental and 

MHOA units due to construction defects or because replacement was cheaper than 

remodeling the unit.  HUD policy prior to the 2008 amendments excluded demolished low rent 

and Mutual Help units unless some part of the original structure, like a wall, remained intact.  

The 2008 amendments to § 4152(b)(1) removed this requirement and rightly so.  There is no 

reasonable basis for such a requirement, and such a requirement does not survive scrutiny under 

Keetoowah because it is not related to Plaintiffs' housing need.  

 Fourth, homes may have been converted to low-rent housing, in which case they 

continue to be owned and operated by the TDHE, and therefore continue to be eligible 

under both the pre and post amendment versions of NAHASDA.  As this court noted in Fort 

Peck I, some homebuyers are behind in their payments at the expiration of the 25 year term, and 

others are simply not ready for homeownership when the unit becomes eligible for conveyance, 

in which case the unit may be converted to low rent and continue to be owned and operated by 

the FPHA.  435 F. Supp.2d at 1132-33.43  Yet HUD insists that these units may not be counted as 

low rent units (with a higher funding amount) for formula purposes under Guidance Nos. 98-12 

& 98-19.  Again, HUD's practice of recapturing funds for failing to reclassify converted Mutual 

Help homes is not a need based factor under Keetoowah and must therefore be struck down.  Nor 

does HUD’s policy comply with the standards of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318. 

 Fifth, a new tenant may occupy a Mutual Help unit during the pendency of the 

initial contract term, in which case the TDHE has the right to establish a new purchase 

price and a new contract term.  See, e.g., Fort Peck AR, pp. 512, 513, attached as RA "14".  

                                                 
43  These findings were neither discussed nor disturbed in Fort Peck II.  
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HUD may not, consistent with Keetoowah or 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318, exclude units with 

subsequent homebuyers, because such an action is not related to housing need.  

 Sixth, if a proposed conveyance is located on Indian trust lands, it is subject to 

Bureau of Indian Affairs ("BIA") approval which may have been withheld.   

Seventh, clouds on title due to probate or intestacy may exist that preclude or delay 

conveyance.  Even the 2008 amendments to § 4152 (b) (1) allow leeway in such cases. 

 The seven examples cited above are all cases where the Plaintiffs should be entitled to 

continued FCAS funding despite Guidances 98-12 and 98-19.  The court should hold HUD's 

actions to the contrary unlawful. 

D. HUD's Application of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 (a) (1) and (2) is Arbitrary, 
Capricious and Unlawful Because the Standards Imposed Lack 
Ascertainable Certainty and are so Vague as to Defy Reasonable and 
Consistent Enforcement, and Because the Rules Imposed by HUD Guidances 
Violate Tribal Self-Determination. 

 
 Sections 1000.318(a)(1) and (2) permit HUD to exclude Mutual Help units for grant 

purposes if it finds that the TDHE has not conveyed those units "as soon as is practicable" after 

they are eligible for conveyance, and if HUD finds that the TDHE does not "actively enforce 

strict compliance" of an MHOA by the homebuyer.  These subsections defy any consistent or 

fair standard, and invite ad hoc decision-making on HUD's part as to at what point a particular 

dwelling unit must be dropped from the TDHE's FCAS.  This is inconsistent with NAHASDA 

and the APA.   

An Agency rule must provide clear and unambiguous standards that put TDHEs on notice 

that their funding will be reduced at a certain point in time.  See Reich v. Kelly-Springfield Tire 

Co., 13 F.3d 1160, 1165 (7th Cir. 1994); Diamond Roofing Co. v. OSHA, 528 F.2d 645, 649 (5th 

Cir. 1976) (an Agency "has the responsibility to state with ascertainable certainty what is meant 
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by the standards [it] promulgates.").  Subsections (a)(1) and (2) fall far short of this requirement.  

In fact, the language in subsection (1) requiring that a dwelling unit be conveyed "as soon as 

practicable" is so vague as to defy any fair standard for consistent interpretation.  C.f., Hodges v. 

Public Bldg. Comm'n, 1994 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18419, 48-49 (D. Ill. 1994) (discussing the 

vagueness of the phrase "as soon as practicable" in a contract that rendered the provision at issue 

too indefinite and uncertain to form grounds for liability to support an action for breach of 

contract).   

The same is true with respect to § 1000.318(a) (2) to the extent that it requires TDHEs to 

"actively enforce strict compliance by the homebuyer with the terms and conditions of the 

MHOA, including the requirements for full and timely payment."  There is no way for a TDHE 

to determine at what point it is not enforcing strict compliance with an MHOA.  Such a standard 

is unreasonable because it does not provide "a fair and reasonable warning" of what is 

prohibited.  See Georgia Pacific Court v. OSHRC, 25 F.3d 999, 1003-04 (11th Cir. 1994).  

Moreover, the standard is unreasonable because it fails to give fair notice of the penalty imposed 

(in this case, a loss or reduction of funding) if a party fails to comply:   

In the context of agency proceedings, an agency "may fail to give sufficient fair 
notice to justify a penalty if the regulation [at issue] is so ambiguous that a 
regulated party cannot be expected to arrive at the correct interpretation using 
standard tools of legal interpretation, must therefore look to the agency for 
guidance, and the agency failed to articulate its interpretation before imposing a 
penalty". 
 

Excel Corp. v. U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, 397 F.3d 1285, 1297 (10th Cir. 2005) (quoting United 

States v. Lachman, 387 F.3d 42, 57 (1st Cir. 2004)).  

 It is notable that even HUD was in the dark as to how to enforce the vague standards in § 

1000.318(a) until the OIG audit.  Given the vagueness and ambiguity of § 1000.318(a)(1) and 

(2), it is not surprising that the Inspector General found that so many TDHEs were not in 
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compliance with the regulation.  Nor is it surprising that HUD has to deal on an annual basis 

with so many challenges and corrections as a result of TDHEs having Mutual Help units that are, 

in HUD's view but not the TDHEs, eligible for conveyance.   

V. Guidance 98-19 is an Invalid Substantive Rule That Was Not Promulgated Pursuant 
to Informal and Negotiated Rulemaking Procedures.�
 

Guidance 98-19 has been used as a hatchet to deprive the Plaintiffs of FCAS funding for 

units it continued to own and operate and for units converted from Mutual Help to Low Rent 

after October 1, 1997.  Until 2007, the Guidance was enforced without negotiated rulemaking 

required by NAHASDA.  Portions of the Guidance, pertaining to the reporting of changes to 

FCAS as a result of conveyance, conversion, and the like and the recapture of funding for 

disputed FCAS units, were made part of the regulations in 2007.  See, e.g., 72 Fed. Reg. 20018 

(April 20, 2007) (the new regulations are now codified at 24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.315 and 319).  

Significantly, however, two parts of the Guidance challenged here have never gone through the 

negotiated rulemaking mandated by NAHASDA.  

Three rules laid out in the Guidance are challenged here: First, the statement on page 2 of 

the Guidance that if FCAS units "were converted [from Mutual Help to Low Rent] on or after 

October 1, 1997, then those units will be counted as the type of unit specified on the original 

ACC for formula purposes"; Second, the rule that "[b]ecause promissory notes can be issued, 

Tenant account receivables alone are not adequate for non-conveyance"; and Third, 98-19 

establishes a unique summary procedure for resolving FCAS controversies that has no statutory 

or regulatory authority.  All three constitute substantive rules that amend existing law and have a 

binding effect on those who are regulated.  As a result, HUD was required to promulgate 

Guidance 98-19 according to APA informal rulemaking procedures as well as APA negotiated 
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rulemaking procedures, which NAHASDA requires.  HUD failed to follow these mandatory 

notice and comment procedures in promulgating Guidance 98-19.  As such, the Court must 

vacate the Guidance and hold unlawful any action taken thereunder. 

A. Guidance 98-19 is a Substantive Rule with the Force of Law. 

The APA defines a rule as follows: 

[T]he whole or part of an agency statement of general or particular applicability 
and future effect designed to implement, interpret, or prescribe law or policy or 
describing the organization, procedure, or practice requirements of an agency and 
includes the approval or prescription for the future of rates, wages, corporate or 
financial structures or reorganization thereof, prices, facilities, appliances, 
services or allowances thereof or of valuations, costs, or accounting, or practices 
bearing on any of the foregoing. 
 

5 U.S.C. § 551(4). 

 Rules have broad, binding applicability.  "Rulemaking…is prospective, and has a 

definitive effect on individuals only after the rule subsequently is applied."  Yesler Terrace 

Community Council v. Cisneros, 37 F.3d 442, 448 (9th Cir. 1994).44  Where an agency 

"determination affect[s] the rights of a broad category of individuals not yet identified," that 

agency determination is a rule.  Id.   

Courts generally refer to two categories of rules—interpretive and substantive, the latter 

of which are also known as legislative rules.  The APA requires all federal agencies to publish 

proposed substantive or legislative rules in the Federal Register for public notice and comment, 

but such notice and comment rulemaking is not required when an agency issues an interpretive 

rule.  See Warshauer v. Solis, 577 F.3d 1330, 1337 (11th Cir. 2009).  See also 5 U.S.C. § 

                                                 
44  There are only two Tenth Circuit cases on point to the matter at hand, both of which are 
discussed in turn.  Several decisions of the D.C. Circuit are cited because, as the Tenth Circuit 
has noted in applying D.C. Circuit decisions to agency actions, the D.C. Circuit is "the circuit 
that most frequently reviews administrative actions."  Vigil v. Andrus, 667 F.2d 931, 937 n. 5 
(10th Cir. 1982). 
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553(b)(3)(A).  "Interpretive rules 'simply clarify or explain existing law or regulations'. [citations 

omitted.]  They do not conclusively affect the rights of private parties.  Id.  Substantive rules, in 

contrast, create rights, impose obligations, or effect a change in existing law pursuant to 

authority delegated by Congress."  Yesler Terrace, 37 F.3d at 449.  In other words, where the 

agency "intends to create new law, rights or duties, the rule is properly considered to be a 

legislative rule."  Warshauer, 577 F.3d at 1337.  "Legislative rules have effects completely 

independent of the statute. "  Id.    

"An agency pronouncement will be considered binding as a practical matter if it either 

appears on its face to be binding or is applied by the agency in a way that indicates it is binding."  

General Elec. Co. v. E.P.A., 290 F.3d 377, 383 (D.C. Cir. 2002).  In other words, where an 

agency "document is couched in mandatory language, or in terms indicating that it will be 

regularly applied, a binding intent is strongly evidenced."  Id.  On this basis, the D.C. Circuit has 

held that a binding EPA Guidance Document should not have been issued without public notice 

and an opportunity for comment because the guidance "purports on its face to bind both 

applicants and the Agency."  290 F.3d at 381.  Another guidance was considered a legislative 

rule because it "impose[d] duties and obligations on those who are regulated" and "significantly 

broadened the [existing] rule … in effect amend[ing the existing rule.]  This [the EPA] cannot 

legally do without complying with the rulemaking procedures...".  Appalachian Power Co. v. 

E.P.A., 208 F.3d 1015, 1027, 1028 (D.C. Cir. 2000).  Thus, apart from having a binding effect, 

substantive rules are also clearly identified by any amendment to existing law. 

  An agency may not simply label a rule a guidance, letter, or interpretation and shirk 

required processes for creating substantive rules.  "It is well-established that an agency may not 

escape the notice and comment requirements…by labeling a major substantive legal addition to a 
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rule a mere interpretation."  Appalachian Power Co., 208 F.3d at 1024 (cited in Defenders of 

Wildlife v. U.S.E.P.A., 415 F.3d 1121, 1127 (10th Cir. 2005)).  In the end, a legislative or 

substantive rule has "the force of law."  General Elec. Co., 290 F.3d at 299.  As such, a 

legislative rule must undergo notice and comment rulemaking procedures under the APA. 

Here, Guidance 98-19 cannot reasonably be construed as an interpretive rule.  Unlike 

interpretive rules, Guidance 98-19 affects the rights of private parties—those tribes and TDHEs 

regulated under the scheme.  Similarly, while the first page of the Guidance restates existing 

regulations, the second page of this same Guidance amends existing law.  In other words, taken 

as a whole and considering its overall effect, Guidance 98-19 does not restate or clarify existing 

law but creates new law.   For example, the detailed process established in the Guidance for 

recapturing funds imposes new procedural restrictions on TDHEs; has no statutory or regulatory 

basis (and therefore cannot be considered to be interpreting any statute or regulation); and has 

been consistently applied by HUD based only on the Guidance itself. 

As such, Guidance 98-19 is clearly a legislative or substantive rule.  Guidance 98-19 is 

prospective and affects the rights of a broad category of individuals not yet individually 

identified.  It has effects completely independent of NAHASDA and existing regulations.  

Guidance 98-19 amends existing law by imposing two new requirements found nowhere in 

existing regulations.  The Guidance states that if FCAS units "were converted [from mutual help 

to low rent] on or after October 1, 1997, then those units will be counted as the type of unit 

specified on the original ACC for formula purposes." Guidance 98-19 at 2.  The Guidance also 

states that "[b]ecause promissory notes can be issued, Tenant account receivables alone are not 

adequate for non-conveyance."  Id.  Similarly, the Guidance purports to provide for recapturing 

funds if Mutual Help homes were not, in HUD's judgment, timely conveyed.  The Guidance thus 
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contained another newly imposed legal duty that was not made a part of the NAHASDA 

Regulations until 2007.  Id.  

Guidance 98-19 undoubtedly imposes new duties and obligations on tribes and TDHEs as 

well as HUD.  By imposing these additional duties and obligations through language indicating 

they will be regularly applied, Guidance 98-19 is binding.  Just as the EPA attempted to veil its 

Guidance as an interpretation in General Electric, here, too, HUD attempts to masquerade this 

Guidance as an interpretation by simply labeling it as such.  But, as courts have consistently 

made clear, it is the binding effect that makes something a rule, not the label attached by the 

agency.  Because Guidance 98-19 is a substantive rule, not an interpretation, HUD was bound to 

promulgate it pursuant to APA informal rulemaking and negotiated rulemaking procedures.  This 

HUD did not do. 

B. HUD Failed to Follow APA Informal Rulemaking and Negotiated 
Rulemaking Procedures, Both of Which Were Required. 

 
HUD regulations incorporate APA informal rulemaking procedures for HUD rulemaking, 

even including matters that would typically be exempt to those requirements under APA § 553.  

See 24 C.F.R. § 10.1.  In addition, NAHASDA requires HUD to promulgate final regulations to 

"establish a formula to provide for allocating amounts available. . . for block grants" pursuant to 

the APA's Negotiated Rulemaking Act. 25 U.S.C. § 4152(a).  Thus, HUD was required to 

promulgate Guidance 98-19 pursuant to both APA informal rulemaking and negotiated 

rulemaking requirements, both which involve notice and comment.  Neither was done here. 

C. HUD Regulations Bind HUD to Comply With Informal Rulemaking 
Procedures. 

 
As the U.S. Supreme Court has explained: 

The Administrative Procedure Act was adopted to provide, inter alia, that 
administrative policies affecting individual rights and obligations be promulgated 
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pursuant to certain stated procedures so as to avoid the inherently arbitrary nature 
of unpublished ad hoc determinations.  
 

Morton v. Ruiz, 415 U.S. 199, 232 (1974).  For all substantive rules, the APA requires the agency 

to publish notice of a proposed rulemaking in the Federal Register and afford interested persons 

an opportunity to participate through submission of written data, views, or arguments.  See 5 

U.S.C. § 553: see also Lincoln v. Vigil, 508 U.S. 182, 195 (1993).   

There are two statutory exemptions to the notice and comment requirements for 

substantive informal rulemaking.  Foremost, the APA exempts from § 553 requirements 

"matter[s] relating to agency management or personnel or to public property, loans, grants, 

benefits, or contracts."  5 U.S.C. § 553(a)(2).  See also Lincoln, 508 U.S. at 196.  However, these 

exemptions do not apply to HUD rulemakings because HUD has adopted and codified a policy 

of promulgating all HUD regulations with notice and comment, "including matters that relate to 

public property, loans, grants, benefits, or contracts even though such matters would not 

otherwise be subject to rulemaking by law or Executive policy."  24 CFR § 10.1.  Because the 

requirements of 24 CFR § 10.1 are "substantially the same as those prescribed in the APA," 

courts typically look to the APA in determining whether HUD abided by its own notice and 

comment policy.  Yesler Terrace, 37 F.3d at 5, n. 5 (citing Lee v. Kemp, 731 F. Supp. 1101, 

1112-13 (D.D.C. 1989)).  Indeed, the D.C. District Court has held before that HUD violated its 

own policy of undertaking notice and comment where it issued a substantive rule relating to 

loans and grants without notice and comment.  See Patriot v. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban 

Dev., 963 F. Supp. 1, 5 (D.D.C. 1997). 

The second statutory exception to APA § 553's notice and comment requirements for 

substantive rules is available where "the agency for good cause finds … that notice and public 

procedure thereon are impracticable, unnecessary, or contrary to the public interest."  5 U.S.C. § 
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553(b)(3)(B).  Yet, "HUD's regulations do not contain a 'good cause' requirement for dispensing 

with notice and comment.  Rather, 24 CFR § 10.1 permits issuance of a rule without prior public 

comment when the Secretary finds that notice and public procedure are impracticable, 

unnecessary, or contrary to the public interest and that the reasons for the determination shall be 

stated in the rulemaking document."  Housing Study Group v. Kemp, 739 F. Supp. 633, 636 n.9 

(D.D.C. 1990).  Therefore, to rely on this exemption, HUD must establish that notice and public 

procedure are impracticable, unnecessary, or contrary to the public interest and include those 

reasons in the rulemaking document. 

A critical factor in determining impracticability, necessity, and public interest, in this 

context, is the federal government's trust responsibility to Indian tribes.  Acknowledging this 

fiduciary relationship, the Tenth Circuit has found that the BIA must follow notice and comment 

procedures whenever it cuts back congressionally created and funded programs for Indians, 

citing the U.S. Supreme Court as declaring: 

[I]t is essential that the legitimate expectation of these needy Indians not be 
extinguished by what amounts to an unpublished ad hoc determination of the 
agency that was not promulgated in accordance with its own procedures, to say 
nothing of those of the Administrative Procedure Act.  The denial of benefits to 
these respondents under such circumstances is inconsistent with 'the distinctive 
obligation of trust incumbent upon the Government in its dealings with these 
dependent and sometimes exploited people.' 
 

Vigil v. Andrus, 667 F.2d 931, 937 (10th Cir. 1982) (quoting Seminole Nation v. United States, 

316 U.S. 286, 296 (1942)).  

In this case, neither exemption applies.  Foremost, regarding the exemption for rules 

relating to public property, loans, grants, benefits, or contracts, HUD codified its policy of 

undertaking notice and comment rulemaking for these types of rules.  As such, courts 

consistently hold HUD to its own policy, which essentially entails the requirements of APA § 
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553 informal rulemaking.  HUD was bound to comply with its own policy by promulgating 

Guidance 98-19 with notice and comment.  HUD's failure to do so violated its regulations, 

resulting in an invalidly promulgated rule. 

Second, HUD did not determine that notice and public procedure would be impracticable, 

unnecessary, or contrary to the public interest and include those reasons in Guidance 98-19.  

That is enough to show non-compliance.  However, it is worth noting that fundamental Federal 

Indian law, as pronounced by the U.S. Supreme Court and the Tenth Circuit, supports the federal 

government complying with notice and comment procedures in order to fulfill its trust 

responsibility to Indian tribes.  The federal government's unilateral imposition of additional 

duties and obligations on tribes runs counter to the public interest, indeed the legal necessity, for 

the federal government's trust responsibility to tribes.   

HUD was bound to comply with the informal rulemaking notice and comment 

requirements of APA § 553 in promulgating Guidance 98-19.  It did not, and Guidance 98-19, as 

well as any action taken under it, is therefore unlawful. 

D. NAHASDA Binds HUD to Undertake Negotiated Rulemaking for 
Promulgating Final Regulations. 

 
In addition to APA § 553 requirements, HUD is bound to comply with negotiated 

rulemaking requirements in promulgating final regulations.  NAHASDA requires the Secretary 

to issue final regulations necessary to carry out NAHASDA in compliance with negotiated 

rulemaking procedure as outlined at 5 U.S.C. §§ 561-570a, the Negotiated Rulemaking Act 

within the APA.  25 U.S.C. § 4116(b)(2).  More specifically, 25 U.S.C. § 1152(a) provides that 

the "Secretary shall, by regulations issued not later than the expiration of the 12-month period 

beginning on the date of the enactment of this Act [enacted Oct. 26, 1996], in the manner 

provided under section 106 [25 USCS § 4116], establish a formula to provide for allocating 
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amounts available for a fiscal year for block grants under this Act among Indian tribes in 

accordance with the requirements of this section".  Id. (emphasis added).  Guidance 98-19 

directly affects the allocation formula by dictating when dwelling units come off of FCAS and 

by purporting to authorize HUD to recapture grant funds and reallocate them to other TDHEs.  

 The Negotiated Rulemaking Act provides that the agency must comply with the informal 

rulemaking notice and comment process in APA § 553, and, in addition, the agency may also, 

upon determining that negotiated rulemaking should be utilized, propose to establish a negotiated 

rulemaking committee, publish notice of that proposal, and solicit comments  on the proposal.  

Id. at §§ 561-64.  Once the agency establishes a Federal Advisory Committee Act-compliant 

committee, that committee conducts negotiated rulemaking, in which the committee attempts to 

reach a consensus regarding a proposed rule.  Id. at §§ 565(1) and 566(a).  Clearly, the 

negotiated rulemaking process is much more involved than the informal rulemaking process 

under APA § 553. 

But, such was Congressional intent.  NAHASDA clearly requires negotiated rulemaking 

for all final regulations implementing NAHASDA.  25 U.S.C. § 4116(b)(2).  In fact, in contrast 

to the prefatory language within the Negotiated Rulemaking Act whereby an agency may or may 

not determine whether to establish a committee, NAHASDA provides that "[t]he Secretary shall 

establish a negotiated rulemaking committee" for the promulgation of final regulations.  Id. at (i) 

(emphasis added). 

Where HUD has attempted to argue that Congressional silence as to notice and comment 

rulemaking procedures indicated that they were not required, the Ninth Circuit has "decline[d] to 

read such an imperative into Congress's silence[,]" finding HUD ultimately bound by its own 

regulations at 24 CFR § 10.1.  Yesler Terrace, 37 F.3d at 448.  But here, Congress was not silent.  
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In fact, Congress explicitly required rulemaking procedures for all final regulations of HUD.  

Therefore, HUD failed to promulgate Guidance 98-19 pursuant to negotiated rulemaking 

procedures, contrary to its Congressional mandate. 

 In sum, HUD was required to promulgate the substantive rule, Guidance 98-19, with 

notice and comment, not only under the informal rulemaking requirements of its regulations but 

also the negotiated rulemaking requirements of NAHASDA.  HUD failed to do so, in direct 

contravention of its regulations, NAHASDA, and the federal government's long-standing, 

distinctive trust responsibility to tribes.  Guidance 98-19 was invalidly promulgated and must be 

vacated. 

VI. HUD Must Administer NAHASDA in a way that Comports with the Federal 
Government's Trust Responsibility to the Plaintiff Tribes. 

 
A trust responsibility exists under NAHASDA which requires HUD to administer 

NAHASDA grant funds in a manner that is consistent with the federal government's 

responsibility as the trustee of the Tribes.  While interpreting statutes, the familiar Indian law 

canons of construction provide that statutes are to be construed liberally in favor of Indian tribes; 

ambiguities are to be resolved in favor of Indian tribes.  See Choctaw Nation v. United States, 

119 U.S. 1, 28 (1886); Minnesota v. Mille Lacs Band, 526 U.S. 172, 200 (1999); see also Nell 

Jessup Newton et al., Cohen's Handbook of Federal Indian Law, 5.04[4][a] (2006 ed.).  As 

indicated in the preceding sections, the relevant portions of NAHASDA and associated 

regulations must be understood and interpreted in light of both the trust responsibility and the 

canons of construction.  HUD ignored its trust responsibility in seeking recapture from the 

plaintiff tribes.  
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In determining whether a trust relationship exists, courts have had to determine whether 

the applicable statutes, regulations and management by the federal government create fiduciary 

responsibilities.  See, e.g., United States v. Mitchell, 463 U.S. 206, 225, 226 (1983).  

NAHASDA's language, Congress' intent, and the history of Indian housing clearly provide that 

HUD has a trust responsibility.  The federal government recognized the problem of substandard, 

unsanitary housing conditions in Indian Country over one hundred and fifty years ago.  See 

Virginia Davis, A Discovery of Sorts: Reexamining the Origins of the Federal Indian Housing 

Obligation, 18 Harv. BlackLetter L.J. 211, 232 (Spring, 2002) (citing Arnold C. Sternberg & 

Catherine M. Bishop, Indian Housing: 1961-1971, A Decade of Continuing Crisis, 48 N. D. L. 

REV. 593, 593 (1972)).  The historical importance of an act is significant when determining 

whether a trust responsibility exists.  Wolfchild v. United States, 96 Fed. Cl. 302, 341 (2010) 

(court found that the historical importance of the Appropriations Act and Congress' intent for the 

statute was to serve as substitutes for the obligations that the federal government took upon 

itself). 

Congress has specifically set out its purpose for NAHASDA.  In 25 U.S.C. § 4101, 

setting out the Congressional Findings, the legislature recognized that "the Federal Government 

has a responsibility to promote the general welfare of [Indian tribes]"; that there "exists a unique 

relationship between the Government of the United States and the governments of Indian tribes 

and a unique Federal responsibility to Indian people"; that "the United States has undertaken a 

unique trust responsibility to protect and support Indian tribes and Indian people"; that "the 

Congress . . . has assumed a trust responsibility for the protection and preservation of Indian 

tribes and for working with tribes and their members to improve housing conditions and 

socioeconomic status"; that "providing affordable homes in safe and healthy environments is an 
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essential element in the special role of the United States in helping tribes and their members to 

improve their housing conditions and socioeconomic status"; and that "Federal assistance to 

meet these responsibilities shall be provided in a manner that recognizes the right of Indian self-

determination and tribal self-governance by making such assistance available directly to Indian 

tribes or tribally designated entities. . .".  25 U.S.C. § 4101(1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (6) and (7) 

(emphasis added).  Congress recognizes its existing trust responsibility and has tasked HUD with 

upholding the trust relationship by controlling and managing housing funds for Indian tribes. 

The fact that HUD has pervasive control and authority over grant funds also establishes 

that HUD has a trust responsibility.  U.S. v. Navajo Nation, 566 U.S. 287, 292 (2009).  Not only 

does HUD administer the allocation of such funds, but HUD has authority to terminate payments 

to a recipient, reduce payments, limit their permitted uses, limit the availability of payments, or 

provide a replacement tribally designated housing entity in the event of non-compliance.  25 

U.S.C. § 4161.  HUD monitors compliance, establishes performance measures, and conducts 

onsite inspections.  25 U.S.C. § 4163.  HUD also reviews reports from the recipients which 

include a description of the use of the funds and then submits to Congress a progress report, a 

summary of funds used, and description of the outstanding loan guarantees.  25 U.S.C. § 4167.  

HUD also has authority, when it determines such action to be appropriate, to conduct an audit or 

review for various purposes.  25 U.S.C. § 4165.  

The trust responsibility constrains any discretion that HUD may otherwise enjoy in 

administering NAHASDA, and creates for HUD a fiduciary duty to each Plaintiff Tribe.  HUD 

breached these trust duties by unlawfully recapturing and withholding grant funds the Plaintiff 

Tribes were entitled to and mandated by NAHASDA.  
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Relief Requested 

In light of the foregoing, the Plaintiff Tribes ask that the Court issue a declaration which 

provides that: 

(1) HUD lacks authority to make recapture without providing a full hearing in 

accordance with Sections 401 and 405 of NAHASDA and 24 C.F.R. § 1000.532; 

(2) HUD lacks authority to make recapture unless a finding of "substantial non-

compliance" is made during a formal hearing; 

(3) HUD cannot recapture funds that have been spent on affordable housing 

activities; 

(4) HUD's authority to administer NAHASDA is provided by that statute; HUD has 

no inherent authority that overrides the limitations on HUD's authority created by 

NAHASDA; 

(5) HUD's decision to deny funding for units that have not actually been lost by 

conveyance, demolition or otherwise is unlawful; 

(6) in light of the legislative history surrounding the 2008 Amendments to 

NAHASDA, which indicate an intent by both Congress and HUD to change the 

statutory mechanism for funding FCAS, the pre-2008 version of NAHASDA 

required HUD to fund each TDHE based on the number of units subject to an 

ACC on September 1997; 

(7) HUD’s systematic denial of FCAS assistance for homes that were still owned or 

operated by Plaintiffs in the pertinent grant year violates NAHASDA, 24 C.F.R. § 

1000.318 and the APA and was unrelated to need; 
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(8) HUD’s application of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a)(1) and (2) violates the APA and 

NAHASDA and Plaintiffs' right to self-determination because the standards 

employed by HUD are impermissibly vague; 

(9) HUD's conduct in departing from the statute and regulations as described herein is 

a violation of the trust obligation owed by HUD to the Plaintiffs; and 

(10) Guidance No. 98-19, and any action taken under it, is unlawful because HUD 

failed to follow rulemaking procedures under the APA, HUD regulations and 

NAHASDA in adopting that Guidance.  

Furthermore, to aid in enforcement of the declarations requested above, the Plaintiffs ask 

that the Court issue an injunction that: 

(1) bars HUD from pursuing any recaptures that are inconsistent with this order; 

(2) bars HUD from collecting on any "repayment agreements" that were improperly 

obtained by HUD in violation of the rights of the Plaintiffs as declared herein; 

(3) orders HUD to take all appropriate measures to appropriately compensate each 

affected Plaintiff in accordance with the ruling herein, including providing funds 

held by Court order;45 

(4) orders HUD to return to the Plaintiffs funds spent on affordable housing that were 

recaptured; 

                                                 
45  The funds being held include $1,499,887 on behalf of the Tlingit Haida Regional Housing 
Authority (Case No. 08-cv-451, Stipulation Providing Preliminary Relief (Docket no. 3); Order 
Approving Stipulation (Docket no. 8)); $890,000 on behalf of Northern Arapaho Tribal Housing 
(Case No. 06-cv-01680, Stipulation Providing Preliminary Relief (Docket no. 3); Order 
Approving Stipulation (Docket no. 5); Stipulation Providing Additional Preliminary Relief 
(Docket no. 48); Order Approving Stipulation (Docket no. 49)); $5,121,456 on behalf of Navajo 
Housing Authority (Case No. 08-cv-00826, Order (Docket no 16); additional funds on behalf of 
Blackfeet Housing, et. al. (Case No. 07-cv-01343, Stipulation Providing Preliminary Relief for 
Plaintiffs (Docket no. 23); Order on Motion for Miscellaneous Relief (Docket no. 30)). 
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(5) transfers all appropriate cases to the Court of Claims so the Plaintiffs can seek 

appropriate damages from the judgment fund; 

(6) orders HUD to pay Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys' fees incurred herein; and  

(7) provides Plaintiffs with such other and further relief that is just and appropriate 

under the circumstances. 

 

DATED:  July 26, 2011   Respectfully submitted,  
 

  FREDERICKS PEBBLES & MORGAN LLP 

 
 s/ John Fredericks III     
 John Fredericks III 
 3730 29th Avenue 
 Mandan, North Dakota 58554 
  Tel: (303) 673-9600 
  Fax:  (701) 663-5103 

Email:  jfredericks@ndnlaw.com 
      Attorney for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF DIGITAL SUBMISSIONS 
 

 In accordance with the Court’s General Order Regarding Electronic Submission of 
Documents, I certify the following: 
 

1. No privacy redactions are required for, or have been made in, this document. 
2. The digital submission of this document has been scanned for viruses with the 

most recent version of Malwarebytes’ Anti-Malware, version 1.46, May 10, 2011, 
and, according to that program, this document is free of viruses. 

 
By: /s/ Debra A. Foulk    
 Debra A. Foulk 
 Assistant to John Fredericks III 
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       s/ Debra A. Foulk    
       Debra A. Foulk 
       Assistant to John Fredericks III 
       Fredericks Peebles & Morgan LLP 
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       Louisville, Colorado  80027 
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